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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Thursday, September 21, 2006
(®)

[English)

The Special Senate Committee on Senate Reform met this day
in room 160-S, Centre Block, at 9:01 a.m., the Chair, the
Honourable Daniel Hays, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Angus, Austin, P.C., Chaput, Dawson, Hays, Hubley, Munson,
Segal, Tkachuk and Watt (10).

Other senators present. The Honourable Senators Fraser and
Harb (2).

In attendance: Brian O’Neal and Sebastian Spano, Analysts,
Library of Parliament; Heather Lank, Principal Clerk,
Committees Directorate.

Also present: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate
on Wednesday, June 28, 2006, the committee continued its
consideration of the subject-matter of Bill S-4, to amend the
Constitution Act, 1867 (Senate tenure) and pursuant to the Order
of Reference adopted by the Senate on Wednesday, June 28,
2006, the committee continued its consideration of the
Motion to amend the Constitution of Canada (Western regional
representation in the Senate). (For complete text of Orders of
Reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 1.)

WITNESSES:
As individuals:
Patrick J. Monahan, Dean, Osgoode Hall Law School;

The Honourable Gérald-A. Beaudoin, Professor Emeritus,
Faculty of Law, University of Ottawa and former senator;

Gérald R. Tremblay, Partner, McCarthy Tétrault.

The Chair made a statement.

The Deputy Chair made a statement.

Mr. Monahan made a statement and answered questions.
At 10:26 a.m., the committee suspended.

At 10:42 a.m., the committee resumed.

The Chair made a statement.

Mr. Beaudoin made a statement. Mr. Tremblay made a
statement. The witnesses answered questions.

At 12:20 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the Chair.

ATTEST:

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 septembre 2006
(®)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial spécial sur la réforme du Sénat se réunit
aujourd’hui, a 9 h 1, dans la piéce 160-S de I’édifice du Centre,
sous la présidence de ’honorable Daniel Hays (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Angus, Austin, C.P., Chaput, Dawson, Hays, Hubley, Munson,
Segal, Tkachuk et Watt (10).

Autres sénateurs présents . Les honorables sénateurs Fraser et
Harb (2).

Egalement présents : Brian O’Neal et Sebastian Spano,
analystes, Bibliothéque du Parlement; et Heather Lank, greffiére
principale, Direction des comités.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a 'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 28 juin 2006, le comité poursuit son examen du projet de
loi S-4, Loi modifiant la Loi constitutionnelle de 1867 (la durée du
mandat des sénateurs), et conformément a l’ordre de renvoi
adopté par le Sénat le mercredi 28 juin 2006, le comité poursuit
son examen de la motion visant a modifier la Constitution du
Canada (la représentation des provinces de I’'Ouest au Sénat). (Le
texte complet des ordres de renvoi figure au fascicule n° 1 des
délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :
A titre personnel :
Patrick J. Monahan, doyen, Faculté de droit, Osgoode Hall;

L’honorable Gérald-A. Beaudoin, professeur émérite,
Faculté de droit, Université d’Ottawa, et ancien sénateur;

Gérald R. Tremblay, associé, McCarthy Tétrault.

Le président fait une déclaration.

Le vice-président fait une déclaration.

M. Monahan fait un exposé puis répond aux questions.
A 10 h 26, la séance est interrompue.

A 10 h 42, 1a séance reprend.

Le président fait une déclaration.

MM. Beaudoin et Tremblay font chacun une déclaration. Les
témoins répondent aux questions.

A 12 h 20, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :
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OTTAWA, Thursday, September 21, 2006
)

[English]

The Special Senate Committee on Senate Reform met this
day in room 160-S, Centre Block, at 2 p.m., the Chair, the
Honourable Daniel Hays, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Angus, Austin, P.C., Chaput, Comeau, Dawson, Fraser, Hays,
Hubley, Munson, Segal and Tkachuk (11).

In attendance: Jack Stilborn, Principal Analyst and Sebastian
Spano, Analyst, Library of Parliament; Heather Lank, Principal
Clerk and Line Gravel, Committee Clerk, Committees
Directorate.

Also present: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate
on Wednesday, June 28, 2006, the committee continued its
consideration of the subject-matter of Bill S-4, to amend the
Constitution Act, 1867 (Senate tenure) and pursuant to the Order
of Reference adopted by the Senate on Wednesday, June 28,
2006, the committee continued its consideration of the
Motion to amend the Constitution of Canada (Western regional
representation in the Senate). (For complete text of Orders of
Reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 1.)

APPEARING:

The Honourable Marie Bountrogianni, Minister of
Intergovernmental Affairs and Minister Responsible for
Democratic Renewal, Government of Ontario.

WITNESS:
As an individual:

Stephen Allan Scott, Professor Emeritus, Faculty of Law,
McGill University.

The Chair made a statement.
The Deputy Chair made a statement.

Minister Bountrogianni made a statement and answered
questions.

At 2:56 p.m., the committee suspended.

At 3:14 p.m., the committee resumed.

The Chair made a statement.

Mr. Scott made a statement and answered questions.

At 4:19 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the Chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 septembre 2006
©

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial spécial sur la réforme du Sénat se réunit
aujourd’hui, a 14 heures, dans la piéce 160-S de I’édifice du
Centre, sous la présidence de I’honorable Daniel Hays (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Angus, Austin, C.P., Chaput, Comeau, Dawson, Fraser, Hays,
Hubley, Munson, Segal et Tkachuk (11).

Egalement présents : Jack Stilborn, analyste principal, et
Sebastian Spano, analyste, Bibliothéque du Parlement; Heather
Lank, greffiére principale, et Line Gravel, greffiere de comité,
Direction des comités.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a 'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 28 juin 2006, le comité poursuit son examen du projet de
loi S-4, Loi modifiant la Loi constitutionnelle de 1867 (la durée du
mandat des sénateurs), et conformément a l’ordre de renvoi
adopté par le Sénat le mercredi 28 juin 2006, le comité poursuit
son examen de la motion visant a modifier la Constitution du
Canada (la représentation des provinces de I’Ouest au Sénat). (Le
texte complet des ordres de renvoi figure au fascicule n° 1 des
délibérations du comité.)

COMPARAIT :

L’honorable Marie Bountrogianni, ministre des Affaires
intergouvernementales et ministre responsable du
Renouveau démocratique, gouvernement de 1’Ontario.

TEMOIN :
A titre personnel :

Stephen Allan Scott, professeur émérite, Faculté de droit,
Université McGill.

Le président fait une déclaration.
Le vice-président fait une déclaration.

La ministre Bountrogianni fait une déclaration puis répond
aux questions.

A 14 h 56, la séance est interrompue.

A 15 h 14, la séance reprend.

Le président fait une déclaration.

M. Scott fait une déclaration puis répond aux questions.

A 16 h 19, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :
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OTTAWA, Thursday, September 21, 2006
(10)

[English]

The Special Senate Committee on Senate Reform met this
day in room 160-S, Centre Block, at 6:32 p.m., the Chair, the
Honourable Daniel Hays, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Angus, Chaput, Comeau, Dawson, Fraser, Hays and Tkachuk (7).

In attendance: Jack Stilborn, Principal Analyst, Library of
Parliament; Line Gravel, Committee Clerk, Committees
Directorate.

Also present: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate
on Wednesday, June 28, 2006, the committee continued its
consideration of the subject-matter of Bill S-4, to amend the
Constitution Act, 1867 (Senate tenure) and pursuant to the Order
of Reference adopted by the Senate on Wednesday, June 28,
2006, the committee continued its consideration of the
Motion to amend the Constitution of Canada (Western regional
representation in the Senate). (For complete text of Orders of
Reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 1.)

APPEARING:

The Honourable Benoit Pelletier, Minister responsible for
Canadian Intergovernmental Affairs, Francophones within
Canada, the Agreement on Internal Trade, the Reform of
Democratic Institutions and Access to Information,
Government of Quebec.

The Chair made a statement.
The Deputy Chair made a statement.

Minister Pelletier made a statement and answered questions.

At 7:39 p.m., the committee suspended.

At 7:49 p.m., the committee resumed in camera, pursuant to
rule 92(2)(f) to consider a future draft agenda.

It was agreed that the staff of senators’ offices be permitted to
stay in the room.

It was agreed that the Chair give a Notice of Motion in the
Senate to seek an extension of one month for the committee’s
reporting date.

It was agreed that the committee hold a meeting next
Wednesday, September 27, 2006 at noon to discuss a draft report.

At 8:05 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the Chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 septembre 2006
(10

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial spécial sur la réforme du Sénat se réunit
aujourd’hui, a 18 h 32, dans la piéce 160-S de I’édifice du Centre,
sous la présidence de I’honorable Daniel Hays (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs Angus,
Chaput, Comeau, Dawson, Fraser, Hays et Tkachuk (7).

Egalement présents : Jack Stilborn, analyste principal,
Bibliothéque du Parlement, et Line Gravel, grefficre de comité,
Direction des comités.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a 'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 28 juin 2006, le comité poursuit son examen du projet de
loi S-4, Loi modifiant la Loi constitutionnelle de 1867 (la durée du
mandat des sénateurs), et conformément a I’ordre de renvoi
adopté par le Sénat le mercredi 28 juin 2006, le comité poursuit
son examen de la motion visant a modifier la Constitution du
Canada (la représentation des provinces de I’Ouest au Sénat). (Le
texte complet des ordres de renvoi figure au fascicule n° 1 des
délibérations du comité.)

COMPARAIT :

L’honorable Benoit Pelletier, ministre responsable des Affaires
intergouvernementales canadiennes, de la Francophonie
canadienne, de I’Accord sur le commerce intérieur, de la
Réforme des institutions démocratiques et de 1’Accés a
I'information, gouvernement du Québec.

Le président fait une déclaration.
Le vice-président fait une déclaration.

Le ministre Pelletier fait une déclaration puis répond aux
questions.

A 19 h 39, la séance est interrompue.

A 19 h 49, le comité reprend ses travaux a huis clos,
conformément a I’alinéa 92(2)f) du Réglement, pour examiner
un projet d’ordre du jour.

Il est convenu que le personnel des sénateurs soit autorisé a
rester dans la piece.

Il est convenu que le président présente un avis de motion au
Sénat visant a reporter d'un mois la présentation du rapport du
comité.

Il est convenu que le comité se réunisse le mercredi 27
septembre 2006, a midi, pour discuter de I’ébauche d’un rapport.

A 20 h 5, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

La greffiere du comité,

Catherine Piccinin

Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Thursday, September 21, 2006

The Special Senate Committee on Senate Reform met this
day at 9:01 a.m. to study the content of Bill S-4, to amend the
Constitution Act, 1867 (Senate tenure), and the motion to amend
the Constitution of Canada (Western regional representation
in the Senate).

Senator Daniel Hays (Chairman) in the Chair.

[Translation]

The Chairman: Honourable senators, I call this meeting to
order. This is a meeting of the Special Senate Committee on
Senate Reform. I welcome our guests and our television audience.
For the benefit of our listeners, I will briefly explain the purpose
of our deliberations.

Last June, the Senate asked our committee to study the
substance of Bill S-4, the government’s proposal to limit the terms
of future senators to eight years, as well as a motion by Senator
Lowell Murray, seconded by Senator Jack Austin, to increase the
representation of the Western provinces in the Senate.

[English)

Our first guest this morning will be Professor Patrick
Monahan, Dean of Osgoode Hall Law School.

[Translation]

Afterwards, we will welcome our former colleague, the
Honourable Gérald-A. Beaudoin, Professor Emeritus, Faculty
of Law, University of Ottawa, and Mr. Gérald Tremblay, from
the at McCarthy Tétrault, law firm.

I now invite our deputy chair, Senator Angus, to say a few
words.

Senator Angus: I would simply like to add a personal comment
as the deputy chair of this committee.

[English)

In my respectful view, the Senate of Canada has served
Canadians very well since it was established in 1867. More than
850 distinguished Canadians have passed through the upper
chamber and they have rendered, for the most part, valuable
service to Canadians in a wide range of ways. As in most areas of
our socio-economic life, our institutions should, and in many
cases do, eventually evolve with the times.

Bill S-4, which the chairman has referred to and we are
reviewing, is but the first stage of a long overdue reform process
that the present government has undertaken to implement, with a
view to renewing the Senate of Canada. These hearings are
designed to afford Canadians a unique opportunity to hear
informed debate on the specific issues involved with the bill and
on a wide range of other issues related to Senate reform and
renewal.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 septembre 2006

Le Comité sénatorial spécial sur la réforme du Sénat se réunit
aujourd’hui a 9 h 1 pour étudier la teneur du projet de loi S-4, Loi
modifiant la Loi constitutionnelle de 1867 (durée du mandat des
sénateurs), et la motion pour modifier la Constitution du Canada
(la représentation des provinces de ’Ouest au Sénat).

Le sénateur Daniel Hays (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Frangais]

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, je déclare la séance
ouverte. Il s’agit d’'une réunion du Comité sénatorial spécial sur
la réforme du Sénat. Je souhaite la bienvenue a nos invités et a nos
téléspectateurs. Pour le bénéfice de nos auditeurs, jexpliquerai
briévement le but de nos travaux.

Au mois de juin dernier, le Sénat a demandé a notre comité
d’étudier la teneur du projet de loi S-4, la proposition du
gouvernement de fixer le mandat des futurs sénateurs a huit ans et
la motion du sénateur Lowell Murray, appuyée par le sénateur
Jack Austin, visant a augmenter la représentation des provinces
de ’Ouest au Sénat.

[Traduction]

Notre premier invité ce matin est le professeur Patrick
Monahan, doyen de la faculté de droit de Osgoode Hall.

[Frangais]

Par la suite, nous accueillerons notre ancien collégue,
I’honorable Gérald-A. Beaudoin, professeur émérite a la faculté
de droit de I’Université d’Ottawa et M. Gérald Tremblay, associé
au cabinet d’avocats McCarthy Tétrault.

J’invite maintenant le vice-président, le sénateur Angus, a dire
quelques mots.

Le sénateur Angus : J’aimerais simplement ajouter un mot
personnel en ma qualité de vice-président du comité.

[Traduction]

A mon humble avis, le Sénat du Canada sert trés bien les
Canadiens depuis sa création en 1867. Plus de 850 Canadiens
réputés ont siégé a la Chambre haute, et en général, ils ont rendu
un service important aux Canadiens, et ce de nombreuses fagons.
Comme dans la plupart des domaines de notre vie socio-
économique, nos institutions doivent évoluer au fur et a mesure
que les temps changent, et c’est ce qui se passe généralement.

Le projet de loi S-4 que vient de mentionner le président et que
nous examinons n’est que la premiére étape d’un processus de
réforme attendu depuis longtemps que le gouvernement actuel
s’est engagé a mettre en ceuvre afin d’insuffler une dynamique
nouvelle au Sénat du Canada. Ces audiences visent a donner aux
Canadiens I’occasion de suivre un débat éclairé sur les points
précis abordés dans ce projet de loi et sur toute une gamme
d’autres questions liées a la réforme et au renouveau du Sénat.
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[Translation)

We sincerely hope that these sessions will represent the first
step in a process that will result in a reformed Senate, one which
will be able to play its role as a House of sober second thought as
far as legislation and the production of excellent public policy for
all Canadians and all regions of the country are concerned.

[English]
The Chairman: Professor Monahan, please proceed.

Patrick J. Monahan, Dean, Osgoode Hall Law School, as an
individual: Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Mr. Deputy
Chairman. It is my great pleasure to appear once again before
the committee where I look forward to another vigorous and
stimulating discussion.

By way of disclosure, I should indicate that earlier this year my
advice was sought as to whether Parliament, using its powers
under section 44, could introduce a change in the tenure of
senators to an eight-year or other term from the current
mandatory retirement at age 75. I was consulted by the
government and my view expressed at the time was that
Parliament does have the authority to do so under section 44.
However, I was not retained by the government and I appear this
morning on my own behalf. I am neither appearing on behalf of
anyone else nor constrained in any way in what I am able to
indicate to the committee.

Senator Angus: Of course, you will not be changing your
opinion today.

The Chairman: We will see.

Mr. Monahan: There will not be much suspense, Senator
Angus, about my view. Although I will discuss the certain
subsequent developments that could impact my view, I still hold
that the proposed legislation is constitutionally valid.

I apologize for not having prepared a written brief. Given the
difficulties of my current day job, I was not able to do so.
Nevertheless, I hope this discussion will be of some assistance to
members of the committee.

The beginning proposition is to examine Part V of the
amending formula in the Constitution Act, 1982, in order to
determine whether Parliament or some other institutions have the
capacity to enact a measure such as that set forth in Bill S-4 — to
limit the term of senators to eight years rather than the current
retirement age of 75. The relevant provisions have been discussed
with you. I have seen transcripts of the earlier testimony and, as
my colleague Professor Hogg indicated, section 44 of the
Constitution Act, 1982, states that subject to sections 41
and 42, Parliament, through statute, may change the
Constitution in respect to the Senate of Canada. Sections 41
and 42 contain a number of matters listed; including the method
of electing senators and the powers of Senate, but the tenure of

[Frangais)

Nous espérons sincérement que ces séances ne sont qu’une
premiére étape dans un processus qui résultera en un Sénat
réformé, qui pourra jouer son rdle de chambre de réflexion en ce
qui concerne la législation et la production d’excellentes politiques
publiques pour les Canadiennes et Canadiens de toutes les régions
du pays.

[Traduction]
Le président : Professeur Monahan, vous avez la parole.

Patrick J. Monahan, doyen, Faculté de droit, Osgoode Hall,
a titre personnel : Merci, monsieur le président, et merci, monsieur
le vice-président. C’est un grand plaisir pour moi de comparaitre
de nouveau devant ce comité, et je me réjouis a l’avance de
prendre part a une autre discussion vive et stimulante.

Je dois tout d’abord vous dire que plus tot cette année, on m’a
demandé si, a mon avis, le Parlement pouvait modifier la durée du
mandat des sénateurs pour qu’il soit limité a huit ans ou toute
autre période, plutot que le mandat actuel avec un départ a la
retraite obligatoire a 1’age de 75 ans, et ce conformément aux
pouvoirs conférés au Parlement en vertu de larticle 44. Le
gouvernement m’a consulté a ce sujet, et j’ai expliqué qu’a mon
avis le Parlement avait le pouvoir d’apporter cette modification en
vertu de larticle 44. Toutefois, le gouvernement n’a pas retenu
mes services, et je comparais ce matin a titre personnel. Je ne
représente ici personne d’autre que moi-méme, et de ce fait je suis
libre d’exprimer ma pleine opinion au comité.

Le sénateur Angus : Bien entendu, vous n’allez pas changer
d’avis aujourd’hui.

Le président : Nous verrons.

M. Monahan : En effet, sénateur Angus, il n’y aura pas grand
suspense concernant mon point de vue. Méme si je vais parler des
développements subséquents qui pourraient avoir une incidence
sur mon opinion, je continue d’affirmer que le texte législatif
proposé est constitutionnel.

Je m’excuse de ne pas avoir préparé de mémoire écrit, mais
étant donné les difficultés de mon travail actuel, je n’en ai pas eu
I’occasion. Malgré tout, j’espére que cette discussion sera utile aux
membres du comité.

Je propose de commencer par examiner la partie V du mode de
révision de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1982 afin de déterminer si le
Parlement ou d’autres institutions ont le pouvoir d’adopter une
mesure telle que celle énoncée dans le projet de loi S-4, a savoir
limiter la durée du mandat des sénateurs a huit ans, ce qui
remplacerait le systéme actuel, la retraite a 75 ans. Vous avez déja
discuté des dispositions pertinentes. J’ai lu les transcriptions des
témoignages précédents, et comme 1’a souligné mon collégue le
professeur Hogg, I’article 44 de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1982
stipule que, sauf cas prévus aux articles 41 et 42, le Parlement a le
droit de modifier la Constitution en ce qui concerne le Sénat du
Canada par le biais de I’adoption de lois. Les articles 41 et 42
énoncent un certain nombre de points, y compris le mode
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senators is not identified. Therefore, it would seem that, on the
face of the provisions, Bill S-4 is valid pursuant to section 44 of
the Constitution Act, 1982.

One question that has been raised — yesterday by Senator
Murray and previously by others — is the fact that in an earlier
decision, the 1980 decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in the
Senate reference, the Supreme Court of Canada there said that
fundamental or essential features of the Senate could not be
changed by Parliament alone, at that time acting under
section 91(1) of the Constitution Act, 1867, or as it was then
known the British North America Act, 1867.

So the question has been raised as to whether, in addition to
the matters identified in sections 41 and 42, which are carved out
of the power in section 44, it could also be argued that a
fundamental change or a change in the essential character of the
Senate would similarly be carved out of section 44 on the
reasoning of this 1980 Senate reference decision by the Supreme
Court of Canada. Indeed, Senator Murray, I believe referred to a
passage in the second edition of my textbook on constitutional
law, which he seemed to believe supported that view, namely, that
there was a carve-out of section 44 of any matters that are
fundamental or essential to the Senate. With the greatest respect
to the honourable senator, I do not feel that is the correct
interpretation of the relationship between section 44 and the
other parts of Part V.

My view would be that the enactment of Part V by
Westminster Parliament in 1982 has superseded the Senate
reference or indeed attempted to codify, to identify those
matters that were found to be fundamental or essential and to
specify those matters in sections 41 and 42. In fact, there is
nothing in section 41 that deals with the Senate; it would be
matters in section 42. Going forward, then, we have clarity as to
who or what institution has the power to change the Senate.
Those matters that are fundamental or essential are identified in
section 42. The Parliament of Canada, through section 44, may
enact changes to the Senate, including the tenure of senators.

That is consistent with the pre-1980 situation or the pre-1982
situation. In 1965, Parliament enacted a change in the tenure
of senators by introducing the retirement age of 75. The
provinces did not consent or participate in the enactment
of that change to the tenure of senators. Even if we were to
take a different view about these fundamental or essential
characteristics, the pre-1982 history supports the proposition
that Parliament may act in these matters. Of course, the
Senate itself must agree to any such change because, although
on certain matters the Senate may be overridden or on certain
Constitutional amendments has merely a suspensive veto,
section 44 changes require the concurrence of the Senate.
Presumably, the drafters of the 1982 Constitution regarded as
an appropriate safeguard that the members of the Senate
would ensure that proper regard for the institution of the
Senate would be given in any proposed change.

d’¢élection des sénateurs et les pouvoirs du Sénat, mais la durée du
mandat des sénateurs n’est pas mentionnée. De ce fait, vu les
dispositions, il semblerait que le projet de loi S-4 soit
constitutionnel conformément a D’article 44 de la Loi
constitutionnelle de 1982.

Le sénateur Murray hier, et d’autres avant lui, ont fait
remarquer que dans son arrét de 1980, la Cour supréme du
Canada, dans sa référence au Sénat, a déclaré que les
caractéristiques fondamentales ou essentielles du Sénat ne
pouvaient étre modifiées par le Parlement seul, se prévalant a
I’époque du paragraphe 91(1) de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1867,
ou plutét, comme on la connaissait a 1’époque, de I’Acte de
I’Amérique du Nord britannique, 1867.

Certains se sont demandé si, en plus des points énoncés aux
articles 41 et 42, qui émanent du pouvoir de I’article 44, on ne
pourrait pas aussi soutenir qu’une modification fondamentale du
Sénat ou une modification de sa nature essentielle ne pourrait
également découler de I'article 44, en se fondant sur 'arrét de la
Cour supréme du Canada de 1980 concernant le Sénat. Si je ne me
trompe, le sénateur Murray a mentionné un passage tiré¢ de la
seconde édition de mon manuel de droit constitutionnel, et il
semblait penser que ce passage appuyait ce point de vue, a savoir
que toute question fondamentale ou essentielle pour le Sénat
émane de l'article 44. Sauf le respect que je dois a I’honorable
sénateur, je ne pense pas que cette interprétation soit la bonne
lorsqu’on parle du lien qui existe entre I’article 44 et les autres
éléments de la partie V.

A mon avis, la promulgation de la partie V par le Parlement de
Westminster en 1982 a supplanté la référence au Sénat ou a en fait
représenté une tentative de codifier, de définir les questions
considérées fondamentales ou essentielles et de les préciser aux
articles 41 et 42. En fait, I’article 41 ne traite pas du tout du Sénat.
Ces questions se retrouvent a larticle 42. Ainsi, on établit
clairement quelle institution a le pouvoir de modifier le Sénat.
Les questions fondamentales ou essentielles sont énoncées a
I’article 42. Le Parlement du Canada, en vertu de ’article 44, a le
droit d’apporter des modifications au Sénat en légiférant,
y compris en ce qui concerne la durée du mandat des sénateurs.

Cela correspond d’ailleurs a la situation qui existait avant 1980,
ou plutot avant 1982. En 1965, le Parlement a modifié la durée du
mandat des sénateurs en adoptant une loi établissant I’dge de la
retraite a 75 ans. Les provinces n’ont pas consenti ou participé a
l’adoption de cette modification concernant le mandat des
sénateurs. Donc méme en adoptant une position différente a
propos de ces caractéristiques fondamentales ou essentielles, ce
qui s’est fait avant 1982 vient appuyer ’argument selon lequel le
Parlement a le droit d’agir dans ce domaine. Bien sfir, le Sénat lui-
méme doit donner son accord pour toutes ces modifications. Dans
certains domaines, I’avis du Sénat peut étre supplanté, et pour
certaines modifications constitutionnelles le Sénat n’a qu’un veto
suspensif. Mais pour toute modification en vertu de l'article 44, le
Sénat doit donner son approbation. De toute évidence, les
rédacteurs de la Constitution de 1982 estimaient que ce serait
une mesure de protection appropriée et que les sénateurs
s’assureraient du fait que le Sénat serait traité avec le respect
qui lui est di en cas de proposition de modification.
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Is there any other argument that could be made against the
validity of Bill S-4? There could be other arguments. Let me deal
briefly with the most significant one, although my view is that this
argument would not be accepted by a court. A change to the
tenure of senators as a stand-alone measure can be enacted by
Parliament under section 44. However, this is not, in reality, a
stand-alone measure because it is part of a larger package
intended to achieve the election of senators. Parliament or the
government would not be proceeding with Bill S-4 in isolation
because of certain consequences that might flow from the bill if it
were enacted in isolation. Therefore Bill S-4 should be viewed as
part of a larger package that is about the method of selection of
senators.

If T were to make this argument, I would say that as a
stand-alone measure Bill S-4 has certain significant consequences.
Gordon Gibson, in his testimony yesterday, identified some of the
issues that might arise. For example, as Mr. Gibson pointed out
that under Bill S-4, if enacted as a stand-alone measure, within
eight years a Prime Minister would be able to appoint all the
members of the Senate. This would mean subsequent
governments could face a Senate appointed 100 per cent by the
previous prime minister. As no prime minister would want such a
situation, this must be part of a larger package. There must be
something else that fits with Bill S-4 to make it a complete
package. What is that something else?

The Prime Minister appeared before the committee on
September 7 and indicated that this fall the government intends
to introduce legislation to provide for advisory elections to
assist — and I am assuming this would be the interpretation —
the Prime Minister in advising the Governor General as to who
should be summoned to the Senate. To lay out the argument
again, one could say: We have not seen the full package yet, it is
behind a curtain. We have only had the parlour curtain, half the
stage is revealed. Here is part of the package, which is Bill S-4, but
behind the curtain there is another part, which is this legislation
that the Prime Minister spoke of.

Therefore, it could be argued, that Bill S-4 is really about the
election of senators and thus goes beyond a section 44 matter and
is really in section 42.

Now I will tell you that I do not believe that is the correct view.
This is what we do in law school — on the one hand and then on
the other. Now it is on the other.

Senator Dawson: We do that in politics too; sometimes we have
three hands.

Mr. Monahan: Having read the media reports of the Prime
Minister’s testimony at the committee, I thought it was important
to review that carefully. He indicated to the committee that
although the government does intend to introduce legislation this
fall, that Bill S-4 is worth doing on its own merits. He stated:

Y a-t-il d’autres arguments que ’on pourrait invoquer pour
nier la validité du projet de loi S-4? Oui, et permettez-moi de
traiter de celui qui me parait étre le plus important, méme si je
pense que cet argument serait rejeté par les tribunaux. En vertu de
l’article 44, le Parlement peut modifier la durée du mandat des
sénateurs en tant que mesure autonome. Cependant, en réalité,
cette mesure ne I'est pas puisqu’elle fait partie d’une série de
mesures visant a terme a élire les sénateurs. Le Parlement ou le
gouvernement ne procéderait pas avec le projet de loi S-4 comme
s’il était autonome a cause de certaines conséquences qui
pourraient découler de I'adoption de ce projet de loi de fagon
isolée. Le projet de loi S-4 devrait donc étre considéré comme
s’inscrivant dans une série de mesures concernant la méthode de
sélection des sénateurs.

Si j’avais a défendre ce point de vue, jexpliquerais que le projet
de loi S-4 en tant que mesure distincte aurait d’importantes
conséquences. Hier, Gordon Gibson, dans son témoignage, a
mentionné certains des problémes qui pourraient voir le jour.
Par exemple comme I’a fait remarquer M. Gibson, si le projet
de loi S-4 était adopté comme mesure distincte, il serait possible
pour un premier ministre de nommer tous les membres du Sénat
en I'espace de huit ans. Cela voudrait dire que le gouvernement
suivant pourrait se retrouver avec un Sénat dont tous les
membres auraient été nommés par le premier ministre
précédent. Evidemment, aucun premier ministre ne souhaiterait
se retrouver dans une telle situation, et de ce fait, cette mesure
doit s’inscrire dans un cadre plus vaste. Il faut que le projet
de loi S-4 soit accompagné d’autre chose pour arriver a un
ensemble cohérent. Mais de quoi?

Le premier ministre a comparu devant le comité le 7 septembre
et a fait savoir que le gouvernement avait I'intention de présenter
a lautomne un texte législatif prévoyant des élections
consultatives afin d’aider — je suppose que c’est I'interprétation
qui en serait faite — le premier ministre a conseiller le gouverneur
général en ce qui concerne les personnes a nommer au Sénat. En
résumé, ’argument est le suivant : nous n’avons pas encore tout
vu, et une partie reste cachée. Nous n’avons eu qu'un avant-goft.
Voici une partie de la série de mesures, a savoir le projet de loi S-4,
mais une autre partie reste cachée, et il s’agit du texte 1égislatif
dont le premier ministre a parlé.

Par conséquent, on pourrait soutenir que le projet de loi S-4
concerne en fait 1’élection des sénateurs et dépasse les pouvoirs
énoncés a l’article 44 et reléve donc de I’article 42.

Personnellement, je ne pense pas que ce point de vue soit le
bon. Mais c’est ce que nous faisons a la faculté de droit, on
présente la thése et I'antithése. Je vais donc vous présenter
maintenant I’antithése.

Le sénateur Dawson : Nous faisons de méme en politique, et
parfois cela va méme au-dela de la thése et I’antithése.

M. Monahan : J’ai lu les articles de journaux concernant le
témoignage du premier ministre devant le comité, et j’ai pensé
qu’il serait important d’examiner cela en détail. Il a déclaré au
comité que, méme si le gouvernement avait l'intention de
proposer un projet de loi a "automne, le bien-fondé du projet
de loi S-4 était indéniable. 11 a déclaré :
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The government has proceeded with this first because it
believes Parliament can act, without engaging other levels of
government in a complex constitutional discussion or
amendment process. Quite frankly, I would put it to you
that terms of this duration —

— namely eight years —

— even if nothing else happened, would enhance the
legitimacy of the Senate.

The Prime Minister has indicated that in his view, and in the
view of his government, this is a matter that they regard as worth
doing even if nothing else happens. I also think it is relevant and
persuasive that the 1984 joint committee of the Senate and House
of Commons, co-chaired by Senator Molgat and then member of
Parliament Paul Cosgrove, recommended a comprehensive
package of reform to the Senate. Recognizing that that
comprehensive reform would engage the amending formula and
would require discussions with the provinces the committee went
on to recommend that Parliament, acting under section 44,
should amend the terms of senators such that senators would sit
for a nine-year, non-renewable term.

They also recommended some other interim changes of a non-
constitutional nature. For example, they recommended that the
Senate, through changes to its rules and practices, operate to act
as though it had a suspensive veto only, and to work with the
House of Commons to change indirectly or through practice to
diminish the legal powers that the Senate has by acting in
accordance with a certain limited conception of the powers of the
Senate in relation to the House of Commons.

However, the point is that a joint committee of Parliament
in 1984, in a very learned and scholarly report, recommended the
enactment of a term limit similar to this term limit and said it was
worth doing on its own. Therefore, the Prime Minister’s statement
is supported by that; it is a credible position. Whether or not one
agrees with a term limit as a policy matter is not a matter for the
courts. Whether a term limit should be eight or 10 years, whether
or not it should be renewable, is a matter for Parliament and not
for the courts.

Therefore, the better view is that Bill S-4 is a stand-alone
measure. In fact, it is being presented as such. It is not linked to
any other legislation. There is no guarantee that if other
legislation is introduced, that it would be enacted by Parliament.

Although there is this argument that I think could be made, the
better view is that Bill S-4, as a stand-alone measure, is valid and
can be enacted by Parliament pursuant to section 44 of the
Constitution Act, 1982.

Let me briefly refer to the resolution that Senators Murray and
Austin have introduced to increase the membership in the Senate,
which is being introduced as a constitutional resolution pursuant

Le gouvernement a décidé de présenter ce projet de loi
avant tout parce qu’il estime que le Parlement peut agir, sans
entrainer d’autres paliers de gouvernement dans un débat
constitutionnel ou dans un processus de modification de la
Constitution complexe. Je suis convaincu que, méme en
I’absence de tout autre changement, cette durée du mandat...

— c’est-a-dire huit ans —

... renforcerait la 1égitimité du Sénat.

Le premier ministre a fait savoir que son gouvernement et lui-
méme estimaient que cette mesure était bonne a prendre méme si
rien d’autre ne venait a se faire. Un autre fait qui me semble
pertinent et convaincant est le suivant : le Comité mixte du Sénat
et de la Chambre des communes de 1984, coprésidé par le
sénateur Molgat et le député Paul Cosgrove, a recommandé une
série exhaustive de mesures sur une réforme du Sénat. Ce comité a
reconnu qu'une réforme approfondie toucherait le mode de
révision et qu’il faudrait donc des discussions avec les provinces.
Par conséquent, le comité a recommandé que le Parlement, en
vertu de Iarticle 44, modifie la durée du mandat des sénateurs afin
que ces derniers siégent pour un mandat de neuf ans non
renouvelable.

Le comité a également recommandé d’autres modifications
provisoires de nature non constitutionnelle. Il a par exemple
recommandé que le Sénat, par des modifications apportées a son
réglement et a ses pratiques, agisse comme s’il n’avait qu’un veto
suspensif, et qu’il travaille avec la Chambre des communes afin de
modifier, indirectement ou par la pratique, ou diminuer ses
pouvoirs législatifs en agissant conformément a la conception
selon laquelle les pouvoirs du Sénat sont plus limités que ceux de
la Chambre des communes.

Ce qui est important ici, c’est qu’un comité mixte du Parlement
en 1984, dans un rapport éclairé et rigoureux, a recommandé
I’adoption d’une loi limitant la durée du mandat de fagon
similaire a ce projet de loi, et a estimé que cette mesure était en soi
fondée. Ainsi, les recommandations du comité confortent la
déclaration du premier ministre; c’est une position crédible. Le
fait qu’on soit d’accord ou non avec une limitation de la durée du
mandat releve du domaine de la politique et non pas des
tribunaux. Que cette durée soit de huit ans ou dix ans, que le
mandat soit ou non renouvelable, c’est au Parlement de décider, et
non pas les tribunaux.

Par conséquent, il serait plus raisonnable de considérer le
projet de loi S-4 comme étant une mesure autonome. D’ailleurs,
c’est ainsi que le projet de loi nous est présenté. Il n’est lié a
aucune autre mesure législative. Et rien ne garantit, si un autre
texte législatif est présenté, qu’il sera adopté par le Parlement.

Mais je crois que I’on peut avancer ’argument suivant, a savoir
que le projet de loi C-4, comme mesure autonome, est valide et
peut-étre adopté par le Parlement conformément a I’article 44 de
la Loi constitutionnelle de 1982.

Permettez-moi de commenter briévement la résolution qu’ont
présentée les sénateurs Murray et Austin en vue d’accroitre le
nombre de membres du Sénat, résolution constitutionnelle
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to sections 42 and 38. It requires the support of seven provinces
representing 50 per cent of the population, as well as the Senate
and House of Commons. It is also subject to Bill C-110, the
so-called regional veto legislation, in that if a minister of the
Crown wishes to introduce a resolution providing for the
enactment of that amendment, the consents referred to in
Bill C-110 must be obtained, which are known to honourable
senators. That would only apply if a minister of the Crown
introduced the resolution. If a member of the House of Commons
who is not a member of the government wished to introduce the
resolution, he or she could do so but I assume the government will
wish, as a matter of policy, to abide by the policy underlying
Bill C-110.

Honourable senators, those are my opening remarks. I would
be delighted to answer questions or comments that members of
the committee may have.

Senator Austin: That is a very helpful contribution to the
discussions we are having, Dean Monahan. On the last point, to
be clear, this resolution is introduced in the Senate. Should it be
passed by the Senate, it would be received in the House of
Commons as a message from us and, therefore, would not need
introduction by a minister of the Crown in that chamber to be
properly before the House of Commons. I think you would agree
with that. I want to make that clear on the record.

Mr. Monahan: That is fine. I have no difficulty with that.
I would simply say that I would assume that the government
would wish to abide by the underlying intention of Bill C-110,
which is to secure the consent of the provinces set forth in
Bill C-110 before proceeding with an amendment under
section 42.

Senator Austin: I would agree with that and that is probably
good political advice as well. Otherwise, the measure would look
quite hypothetical at a political level.

What I was thinking while you were evolving the alternate, but
not acceptable to you, argument with respect to the
constitutionality of Bill S-4, is that we saw in the media in the
last few days a statement by Premier McGuinty of Ontario that
while he has no comments to make about the term, Ontario would
aggressively oppose any measures that would introduce the
selection of senators by election, whether direct or indirect. We
have also seen Quebec take the position that the only acceptable
method of “electing” senators would be by the National
Assembly.

Suppose Premier McGuinty consulted you and asked you to
make your best argument with respect to that aspect. That is not
before us in Bill S-4, necessarily. What would the arguments be
about the overall scheme, of which Prime Minister Harper has
acknowledged this may be a part — it is severable, it may or may
not be a part — but what would Ontario’s best constitutional
argument be?

conforme aux articles 42 et 38. Cette mesure exigerait ’appui de
sept provinces représentant 50 p. 100 de la population, ainsi que
I’appui du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes. Elle devrait
également étre conforme au projet de loi C-110, ce qu’on a appelé
la Loi sur le veto régional, en vertu duquel si un ministre de la
Couronne désire présenter une résolution portant promulgation
de cette modification, les consentements dont fait état le projet de
loi C-110 doivent étre obtenus, et ces consentements sont connus
des honorables sénateurs. Cela ne s’appliquerait que si un ministre
de la Couronne présentait cette résolution. Si un membre de la
Chambre des communes, qui n’est pas membre du gouvernement,
désirait présenter la résolution, il pourrait le faire, mais j’imagine
que le gouvernement voudrait, par principe, respecter la politique
sous-tendant le projet de loi C-110.

Honorables sénateurs, voila qui conclut mon allocution
liminaire. Je serai ravi de répondre aux questions ou
commentaires des membres du comité.

Le sénateur Austin : Voila une contribution trés utile a notre
débat, monsieur le doyen. Sur votre dernier point, soyons clairs,
cette résolution a été présentée au Sénat. Si elle était adoptée par
le Sénat, la Chambre des communes recevrait un message de notre
part et, par conséquent, la résolution n’aurait pas besoin d’étre
présentée par un ministre de la Couronne dans cette chambre
pour que la Chambre des communes en soit diment saisie. Et je
pense que vous étes d’accord avec cela. Je tiens a clarifier cela aux
fins du compte rendu.

M. Monahan : Fort bien. Cela ne me pose aucun probléme.
Je vous répondrai simplement qu’a mon avis, j'imagine que le
gouvernement voudrait qu’elle soit conforme a Ilintention
sous-jacente du projet de loi C-110, a savoir que I’on obtienne
le consentement des provinces mentionnées dans le projet
de loi C-110 avant que l'on procéde a une modification en
vertu de larticle 42.

Le sénateur Austin : Je suis d’accord, et c’est probablement
aussi un bon conseil politique. Autrement, au niveau politique, la
mesure aurait une allure tout a fait hypothétique.

Ce a quoi je pensais pendant que vous évoquiez l'autre
argument, que vous jugez inacceptable, concernant la
constitutionnalité du projet de loi S-4, c’est a ce que nous avons
lu dans les médias il y a quelques jours, a savoir la déclaration du
premier ministre de 1’Ontario qui disait qu’il n’avait aucun
commentaire a faire en ce qui concerne le mandat, et que
I’Ontario s’opposerait vigoureusement a toute mesure proposant
I’élection des sénateurs, que ce soit directement ou indirectement.
Nous avons également entendu le Québec dire que le seul moyen
acceptable d’« élire » les sénateurs serait I’élection par
I’Assemblée nationale.

Imaginons que le premier ministre McGuinty vous a consulté
et vous a demandé d’avancer votre meilleur argument a ce propos.
I n’en est pas nécessairement question dans le projet de loi S-4.
Quels arguments entendrait-on a propos du plan général, et le
premier ministre Harper a reconnu que cela en fait peut-étre
partie — on peut isoler cette mesure, cela en fait partie ou peut-
étre pas — mais quel serait le meilleur argument constitutionnel
de ’Ontario?
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Mr. Monahan: This is in reference to legislation that has not
been tabled at this moment, which is legislation to provide for
some kind of consultation of an advisory nature with Canadians
with respect to the selection of senators. I think the argument
would be straightforward. It would be that this is, in substance, an
attempt to elect senators. Therefore, although styled as an
advisory consultation, it is in substance an attempt to change
the method of election of senators.

I think it will be important to review the terms of any
legislation that the government introduces, with a view to
examining whether this is genuinely an advisory process that
does not legally constrain the ability of the Prime Minister to
advise the Governor General.

Senator Austin: What if the Prime Minister constrains himself
politically by saying — as he certainly would be asked if such
legislation were before Parliament — “Will you select those
people chosen by the electorate in whatever manner is deemed to
be chosen?” In other words, he concedes that his power of
recommendation to the Governor-in-Council is committed to the
scheme.

If the Prime Minister says, as [ understand your argument, “I
may or may not, that is strictly up to me. It is my decision under
the 1935 Mackenzie King Order-in-Council whom 1 might
recommend to the Governor-in-Council.” However, he will be
asked, “How can the scheme be valid if you are not committed to
make the appointment?” That was, of course, the argument that
finally led to Senator Waters’ appointment out of Alberta. I agree
that Prime Minister Mulroney made it clear that he was not
committed before he made the appointment, but that was the
argument. You have my point.

Mr. Monahan: 1 distinguish between legal constraints and
political commitments of various kinds. Any attempt to legally
constrain the ability of the Prime Minister to advise the Governor
General in respect of appointments to the Senate would require a
constitutional amendment pursuant to section 42. As for a
political commitment by the Prime Minister, it depends on the
precise nature of how that political commitment was expressed
and in what form it occurred. If it was truly of a political nature
and not legally binding, then it seems to me it would therefore be
appropriate to say that you have not in fact changed the
amending formula. Again, it would require, senator, me to
comment on a hypothetical bill or some other set of arrangements
that we do not have before us, so I would not be able to express a
view on that at this time other than to say that I think that would
be the appropriate test to apply in the circumstances.

Senator Austin: I recognize that none of us can be categorical,
but you have introduced the argument, and I appreciate it,
with respect to a scheme of arrangements that might purport
to do indirectly that which could not be done directly.
It would have to be done under section 42. We are looking
at the steps. If a provision in such legislation committed the

M. Monahan : Vous avez a I’esprit une loi qui n’a pas encore
été proposée, soit une loi qui exigerait une consultation
quelconque auprés des Canadiens en ce qui concerne le choix
des sénateurs. Je pense que l’argument serait fort simple. On
dirait, en substance, qu’il s’agit d’une tentative visant a faire élire
les sénateurs. Par conséquent, méme si ’on ne parle que de
consultation, il s’agit en substance d’une méthode visant a
modifier le mode de nomination des sénateurs.

Je crois qu’il sera important d’examiner les termes de toute loi
que le gouvernement proposera, en vue de savoir s’il s’agit
vraiment d’un processus consultatif qui ne limite pas légalement la
capacité qu’a le premier ministre de conseiller le gouverneur
général.

Le sénateur Austin: Et si le premier ministre se liait
politiquement les mains en déclarant — on lui poserait
certainement la question si le projet de loi était devant le
Parlement — : « Sélectionnerez-vous ceux qui auront été choisis
par I’électorat quelle que soit la maniére dont ils ont été
choisis? » Autrement dit, il conviendrait que son pouvoir de
recommandation au gouverneur en conseil entre dans ce schéma.

Si le premier ministre déclare, d’apres votre argument : « Je ne
serais pas forcé de le faire, c’est a moi de décider. Le décret du
conseil de 1935 sous Mackenzie King me donne le droit de décider
qui recommander au gouverneur en conseil ». Or, on lui
demandera : « Comment pouvez-vous penser que ce systéme est
crédible si vous ne vous engagez pas a faire cette nomination? »
C’est en fait 'argument qui a été invoqué pour la nomination du
sénateur Waters de 1’Alberta. Je conviens que le premier ministre
Mulroney a dit clairement qu’il ne se sentait pas obligé de faire
cette nomination, mais c’était ’argument que I’on avait retenu.
Vous comprenez.

M. Monahan : Je fais une distinction entre les contraintes
juridiques et les engagements politiques de tous genres. Tout ce
qui tendrait a limiter dans la loi la capacité du premier ministre a
conseiller le gouverneur général en ce qui concerne les
nominations du Sénat exigerait un amendement constitutionnel
en vertu de l'article 42. Quant a un engagement politique du
premier ministre, tout dépend de la nature précise dudit
engagement et de la fagon dont cela s’est fait. Si c’est purement
politique et n’a aucune force juridique, il me semble que cela
reviendrait en fait a dire que 'on n’a pas modifié¢ la formule
d’amendement. Pour cela, je le rappelle, sénateur, il faudrait se
pencher sur un projet de loi hypothétique ou d’autres dispositions
que nous n’avons pas sous les yeux et je ne puis donc vous donner
mon avis la-dessus pour le moment, je puis simplement dire que ce
serait probablement la question qu’il faudrait se poser dans les
circonstances.

Le sénateur Austin : Je conviens que personne ne peut étre
catégorique, mais vous avez soulevé la question et je vous en sais
gré, d’'un systéme qui permettrait de faire indirectement ce que
I’on ne peut faire directement. Cela nécessiterait un amendement
aux termes des dispositions de I'article 42. Nous examinons les
différentes étapes. Si une disposition dans un tel projet de loi
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Prime Minister to appoint whomsoever the electorate chose for
the Senate, I am hearing you say that would be a section 42
legislative project.

Mr. Monahan: No question, because there Parliament by
statute, or the government by some other instrument that
bound the Crown, purported to limit the ability of the Prime
Minister to advise the Governor General, and yes, that is a change
to the amending procedure. To clarify, I raise this issue of election
only to say that that is relevant to Bill S-4 because, in my view,
Bill S-4 must be a stand-alone measure to be properly seen as
falling under section 44. If it is not a stand-alone measure, if it is
inextricably bound up with some other measure, then it must be
assessed from a different perspective. I indicated to you that it is
my view that there is a better argument to say that it is in a fact a
stand-alone measure. The negative consequence that Mr. Gibson
identified yesterday, namely the fact that a Prime Minister would
appoint all of the senators within eight years, is a policy matter
for this Senate and the House of Commons to deal with, not the
courts.

Senator Austin: I appreciate what you have said. I am not
trying to lead you away from that proposition, but simply to
clarify for this committee some of the constitutional precepts on
which we are basing our discussion.

We found Chief Justice Dickson’s decision making it clear that
there were constitutional conventions that the court would
govern. You may remember how unhappy Mr. Trudeau was
with the decision in 1981, which was an advisory decision.

Mr. Monahan: I do remember. I was a law clerk to Justice
Dickson at that time.

Senator Austin: I am asking the right person. Do we still have
that Supreme Court approach? I hesitate to call it a doctrine. Is
there within our constitutional process still a set of precedents or a
major precedent of the Supreme Court of Canada that indicates
that while Bill S-4 may be legal, it is contrary to the conventions
of the constitutional amending process which call on anything
that affects the provinces? The Senate has always been the subject
of provincial importance. Is there anything in the conventions
that could apply to Bill S-4?

Mr. Monahan: First, the issue of constitutional conventions is
that they continue to exist and play a central role. Indeed, the
conventions of responsible government themselves surround
section 24 of the Constitution Act, 1867; namely, that the
Governor General, in summoning to the Senate, will always act
on the advice of the Prime Minister. However, your question, I
take it, is whether there is some constitutional convention that
would say that a change in the retirement or tenure of senators
could not be enacted without the consent of the provinces. I say
the only precedent or the leading precedent is the 1965
amendment to the retirement provisions for senators which
imposed a retirement age of 75, to which the provinces did not
consent and did not participate. I see no precedents for such an

obligeait le premier ministre & nommer quiconque choisit
I’électorat pour le Sénat, vous semblez dire que cela nécessiterait
un amendement en vertu de I'article 42.

M. Monahan : Absolument car, dans un tel cas, le Parlement
par une loi, ou le gouvernement par une autre mesure qui
contraindrait la Couronne, voudrait limiter la capacité du premier
ministre a conseiller le gouverneur général et c’est en effet la une
modification a la formule d’amendement. Soyons clairs, je souléve
la question de 1’élection des sénateurs seulement pour dire que
c’est une question pertinente dans le cas du projet de loi S-4 car, a
mon avis, celui-ci doit étre une mesure a part pour pouvoir étre
considéré dans le contexte de l’article 44. Sinon, s’il est
inextricablement 1lié a d’autres mesures, il faut I’évaluer
différemment. Je vous ai dit qu’il serait & mon avis préférable
de le considérer comme une mesure autonome. La conséquence
négative relevée hier par M. Gibson, a savoir qu’un premier
ministre nommerait tous les sénateurs dans un intervalle de huit
ans, est une question qui devra étre débattue par le Sénat et la
Chambre des communes, et non pas par les tribunaux.

Le sénateur Austin : Je comprends bien ce que vous dites. Je
n’essaie pas de vous écarter de cette these, je voudrais simplement
que le comité comprenne bien certains des préceptes
constitutionnels sur lesquels nous fondons notre discussion.

Le juge en chef Dickson a déclaré dans une décision qu’il y
avait des conventions constitutionnelles que la cour devrait faire
respecter. Vous vous rappellerez peut-étre le mécontentement de
M. Trudeau face a cette décision en 1981, décision qui n’était en
fait qu’un avis.

M. Monahan : Je me souviens bien. J’étais adjoint judiciaire
aupres du juge Dickson a cette époque.

Le sénateur Austin : Je pose donc la question a la bonne
personne. Avons-nous toujours cette méme approche que je
répugne un peu a appeler une doctrine et qui repose sur la Cour
supréme? Y a-t-il toujours, dans notre processus constitutionnel,
un ensemble de précédents ou un précédent majeur de la Cour
supréme du Canada qui nous permettrait de dire que, méme si le
projet de loi S-4 est conforme a la loi, il est néanmoins contraire
aux conventions du processus d’amendement de la Constitution
qui intervient pour tout ce qui touche aux provinces? Le Sénat a
toujours revétu une importance pour les provinces, et j’aimerais
donc savoir si, dans les conventions, il y a quoi que ce soit qui
puisse valoir pour le projet de loi S-4.

M. Monahan : Pour commencer, en ce qui concerne les
conventions constitutionnelles, ces conventions demeurent et
continuent a jouer un réle directeur. En effet, les conventions
du gouvernement responsable s’inscrivent dans le cadre de
larticle 24 de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1867, a savoir que le
gouverneur général, lorsqu’il convoque le Sénat, doit toujours
agir sur le conseil du premier ministre. Par contre, j'imagine que
vous voulez savoir s’il existe une convention constitutionnelle
voulant que tout changement en ce qui concerne la retraite ou la
durée du mandat des sénateurs ne peut étre inscrit dans la loi sans
le consentement des provinces. Pour moi, le seul précédent ou le
principal précédent en I'occurrence est 'amendement apporté en
1965 aux dispositions concernant I’age de la retraite des sénateurs,
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approach, and I see no statements by a prime minister or other
senior figure in the Canadian government that would indicate that
such an approach is binding on the government. Therefore,
senator, I would want to consider more if there were further
arguments, but my initial reaction would be that I do not think
that a constitutional convention could be sustained.

Senator Austin: The argument —

The Chairman: I am sorry, but if we are to stay on time —

Senator Austin: The whole discussion leads to this one topic.

The Chairman: We are quite a bit over time.

Senator Austin: I will not intervene again this morning, but I
would like to put this question.

The argument is that the independence of the Senate, which is
an essential feature or character of the chamber, is affected by the
change from the 75 age limit to a term, whether it is eight or
whatever it turns out to be. There was no essential change from
life to 75 because the age expectation was roughly, at that time,
75, but here the argument is that essentially the independence
of senators can be affected by the nature of the term proposed
in this bill.

Mr. Monahan: It is helpful to articulate the argument in those
terms. I would say, though, that there is still no evidence of a
constitutional convention. The fact that the term proposed is of
eight years, which is the term proposed in Bill S-4, is relevant to
this. You referred to the independence of the senators and the
Senate, but one could say that the powers of the Senate require
that the Senate can act as a chamber of — to use the phrase —
sober second thought, or independent thought. It also represents
regional interests. However, there is an important role dating
back to the original negotiations of the Senate that is removed
from the House of Commons, and it plays that role.

Senator Austin: It is a check and balance on the executive.

Mr. Monahan: Yes. If, for example, the government or this bill
were to propose a term of two years for senators, then I think an
argument could be made that that potentially impairs the powers
of the Senate, which is a matter under section 42. That argument
would not be based on some sort of nebulous argument about the
conventions, which, with all due respect, senator, is not a
persuasive argument, but rather that in so changing the terms
of the Senate’s tenure, you could be said to have touched
on the Senate’s powers and senators’ ability to act in the
constitutional manner as intended. I do not think that could be
said of a term of eight years. The Molgat-Cosgrove committee

amendement qui fixait cet dge a 75 ans, et auquel les provinces
n’ont pas donné leur consentement et pour lequel elles n’étaient
pas intervenues. Je ne vois aucun précédent concernant cette
fagon de procéder, et & ma connaissance, aucun premier ministre,
aucun haut dirigeant du gouvernement canadien n’a jamais dit
que le gouvernement était lié par une telle procédure. Par
conséquent, sénateur, j’aimerais pouvoir approfondir davantage
cela au cas ou il y aurait d’autres arguments, mais ma premiére
réaction serait de dire qu’a mon avis, aucune convention
constitutionnelle ne peut étre invoquée.

Le sénateur Austin : L’argument...

Le président : Excusez-moi, mais si nous voulons rester dans les
délais...

Le sénateur Austin : Toute la discussion conduit précisément a
ce sujet-la.

Le président : Il n’empéche que nous avons déja un peu dépassé
le temps imparti.

Le sénateur Austin : Je n’interviendrai plus ce matin, mais
jaimerais néanmoins pouvoir poser ma question.

L’argument est en I'occurrence que I'indépendance du Sénat,
une caractéristique essentielle de cette Chambre, est modifiée par
le remplacement de I’age limite de 75 ans pour la retraite par un
mandat fixe de huit ans ou quoi que ce soit d’autre. Lorsque la
nomination a vie a été remplacée par une nomination jusqu’a
I’age de 75 ans, cela n’avait pas représenté un changement majeur
du fait qu’a 1’époque, I'espérance de vie était grosso modo de
75 ans, mais ici par contre I’'argument porte essentiellement sur le
fait que 'indépendance des sénateurs risque d’étre influencée par
la nature du mandat proposé dans ce projet de loi.

M. Monohan : Il est utile en effet de présenter cet argument
sous cet angle. Par contre, je dirais qu’il n’existe néanmoins
aucune preuve de I’existence d’une convention constitutionnelle.
Le fait que le mandat proposé soit un mandat de huit ans, comme
le fait le projet de loi S-4, est ici tout a fait pertinent. Vous parlez
de I'indépendance des sénateurs et du Sénat, mais on pourrait fort
bien dire que les pouvoirs du Sénat exigent que celui-ci puisse faire
fonction de chambre de réflexion attentive et sereine, pour citer
I’expression classique. Le Sénat représente également des intéréts
régionaux. Or, le Sénat a un autre réle important qui remonte aux
toutes premiéres négociations, celles qui avaient fait du Sénat une
entité distincte de la Chambre, et c’est précisément ce réle-la qu’il
joue.

Le sénateur Austin : Il s’agit de faire contrepoids a I’exécutif.

M. Monahan : En effet. Si, par exemple, le gouvernement ou ce
projet de loi proposait pour les sénateurs un mandat de deux ans,
a ce moment-1a je pense qu’on pourrait fort bien soutenir que ce
genre de mandat risquerait de nuire aux pouvoirs du Sénat, ce qui
releve de l'article 42. L’argument en question ne reposerait pas sur
un argument plus ou moins nébuleux concernant les conventions
constitutionnelles qui, en toute déférence, sénateur, n’est pas
vraiment un argument probant, mais c’est plutét qu’en changeant
ainsi la durée du mandat des sénateurs, on pourrait prétendre que
cela affecte les pouvoirs du Sénat et la faculté, pour les sénateurs,
d’agir selon ce que veut la Constitution. Je ne pense pas qu’on
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thought a non-renewable term of nine years would be
appropriate, and we are close to that. Although I can see how
that argument might work, if someone were to challenge Bill S-4
in the courts using that as one of their arguments, I do not think it
would be the persuasive argument of the final decision.

Senator Angus: Thank you, Mr. Monahan, for taking the time
to read the transcripts of yesterday’s sessions, which were quite
focused on constitutional law matters as opposed to general
public policy. I would like to take advantage of your presence this
morning to ask you three specific legal questions. You will have
noted in the transcript some discussion about whether it would
require unanimous consent of the provinces to abolish the Senate
or whether the 7-50 formula would be adequate. Could you
comment on that, please?

Mr. Monahan: Yes. I noticed that discussion, senator, and in
my view such abolition could be achieved under the 7-50 general
amending formula. There is a serious question to be debated on
that issue because it is not a clear open and shut case. It could be
argued that the abolition of the Senate would change the
amending procedures because the amending procedures
contemplate and refer to the Senate. Therefore, because
section 41 includes reference to changes to Part V, as falling
under section 41 and as requiring unanimous consent, it could be
argued that unanimous consent would be required. It is not an
easy question on which to express a firm view.

Senator Angus: It would be a fairly drastic step to abolish this
fine chamber.

Mr. Monahan: If T were to argue this point, I would say that
the amending formula is difficult to work with and the procedures
are quite cumbersome. I would favour a policy that limited the
interpretation of those matters requiring unanimous consent.
Therefore, where doubt exists, I would try to argue against an
expansive view of the unanimity provisions. I do not think it
would be possible to express a clear view. I would favour a better
view such that it would require 7-50 but the courts could easily
reach a different view on that.

Senator Angus: Mr. Monahan, you will have noted as well
some discussion about at what point a prime minister has the
constitutional duty to fill vacancies in the Senate. Today, we have
approximately 10 vacancies in the Senate. The Prime Minister has
made it quite clear that he made one appointment and, if he
considers it necessary, perhaps legally necessary, he will make
other appointments. He has also said that he does not intend to
make any appointments unless those appointees come before him
as the result of either a direct or indirect election process. Is he

puisse prétendre cela dans le cas d’un mandat de huit ans. Le
comité Molgat-Cosgrove avait jugé qu’un mandat non
renouvelable de neuf ans conviendrait, et nous n’en sommes pas
loin. Méme si je peux concevoir qu’un tel argument pourrait étre
convaincant au cas ou le projet de loi S-4 viendrait a étre contesté
devant les tribunaux pour cette raison-1a, je ne pense pas que cet
argument serait I’argument convaincant qui emporterait la
décision finale.

Le sénateur Angus : Merci, monsieur Monahan, d’avoir pris le
temps de lire le compte rendu de nos séances d’hier, qui étaient
relativement axées sur des questions de droit constitutionnel
plutét que sur des questions de politique publique générale.
J’aimerais profiter de votre présence ici ce matin pour vous poser
trois questions de droit bien précises. Vous aurez constaté, dans le
compte rendu, que nous avions parlé de la question de savoir s’il
faudra le consentement unanime des provinces pour abolir le
Sénat, ou si la formule 7-50 suffirait. Pourriez-vous nous donner
votre avis, je vous prie?

M. Monahan : Certainement. J’ai effectivement remarqué cette
discussion, sénateur, et a mon avis, I’abolition du Sénat pourrait
se faire en vertu de la formule générale d’amendement 7-50. Iy a
une question grave dont il faudrait délibérer a ce sujet, étant
donné que ce n’est pas une conclusion automatique. On pourrait
en effet soutenir que I’abolition du Sénat changerait les
procédures d’amendement étant donné que celles-ci parlent du
Sénat et y renvoient. Par conséquent, comme 1’article 41 inclut un
renvoi aux changements a la partie V, cela relevant de larticle 41
et exigeant le consentement unanime, on pourrait donc soutenir
que le consentement unanime des provinces serait une condition
indispensable. Ce n’est donc pas une question facile et il n’est pas
aisé de donner un avis péremptoire a ce sujet.

Le sénateur Angus : L’abolition de cette merveilleuse institution
serait un acte assez draconien.

M. Monahan : Si on me demandait d’argumenter la chose, je
dirais que la formule d’amendement est une formule avec laquelle
il est difficile de travailler et que les procédures sont relativement
lourdes. Je serais personnellement favorable a une politique
limitant D’interprétation de ces questions exigeant un
consentement unanime. Par conséquent, s’il y a doute, je
tenterais plutét d’arguer contre une perspective large des
dispositions exigeant 'unanimité. Je ne pense pas qu’il soit
possible d’exprimer une opinion claire. Je privilégierais un
meilleur éclairage qui exigerait ’application de la formule 7-50,
mais les tribunaux pourraient fort bien arriver a une conclusion
différente.

Le sénateur Angus : Monsieur Monahan, vous aurez constaté
également que nous nous sommes demandé & quel moment un
premier ministre est obligé, par la Constitution, de doter des
postes vacants au Sénat. A I’heure actuelle, il en existe environ 10.
Le premier ministre a dit trés clairement qu’il avait procédé a une
nomination et que, s’il jugeait la chose nécessaire, voire
obligatoire aux termes de la loi, il procéderait a d’autres
nominations. Il a également affirmé qu’il n’avait pas l'intention
de procéder a des nominations, sauf si les candidats a ces postes
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bound at this time to recommend appointees to the Senate? |
believe that Professor Hogg said that he is not bound to do so at
this time.

Mr. Monahan: Certainly, I would agree that he is not bound at
this time. Last night, in addition to reviewing the transcripts of
yesterday’s testimony, I reread, in its entirety, the Molgat-
Cosgrove report. As an aside, it was interesting that at that
time, January 1984, there were 23 vacancies in the then 104-seat
Senate. Regardless of any statements that might have been made
by the Prime Minister, the fact that there are 10 vacancies could
by no means be seen as a failure to properly advise the Governor
General. You can imagine the scenarios, some of which were
discussed yesterday, of quite drastic changes in terms of the
membership of the Senate if you were not to make any
appointments for a period of five years. For example, half the
membership of the Senate could potentially disappear. I do not
think we are at that point and that we could speculate as to what
circumstances might arise. I agree with Professor Hogg that there
is nothing improper or there are no constraints that would require
the Prime Minister to recommend appointees to the Senate at this
time.

Senator Angus: The word “shall” is a relative term in this sense,
I suppose.

Mr. Monahan: It says “The Governor General shall on the
advice of the Prime Minister....” The Prime Minister has not
advised, therefore, the Governor General has not summoned.

Senator Angus: Perfect. My next question is associated
more with this morning’s discussion on the stand-alone nature
of Bill S-4. At what point could the stand-alone aspect be
poisoned, if you will, by the introduction in the same Parliament
of proposed legislation that would not be, necessarily, within
the competence of an election process? Obviously, we do not
know what such a bill would say or whether it would be
introduced in the Senate or in the House of Commons. However,
is it at some time analogous to the fruit of the poisoned tree —
that other doctrine in respect of evidence in law? Could you
comment on that, please?

Mr. Monahan: At this time, Bill S-4 is a stand-alone measure
and would stand and fall on its own merits. Therefore, if other
proposed legislation, hypothetically to provide for a method of
election, were found to be invalid, that would be the worst-case
scenario. Would that take Bill S-4 down with it? No, it would not
take it down because if Bill S-4 is indeed a stand-alone measure,
then it stands separate and apart from any other proposed
legislation. Therefore, under normal principles the courts will
even sever parts of the same bill if some part is a bad part they
will say if the rest can stand on its own we will allow the rest to
stand. In this hypothesis we have two separate bills, Bill S-4 and
another later introduction, so I see no reason why, even on this
hypothesis, that the other proposed legislation would pose a
constitutional difficulty, or the validity of Bill S-4 would be
impaired.

lui étaient soumis suite a un processus électoral direct ou indirect.
Le premier ministre est-il pour I'instant obligé de recommander
des candidats au Sénat? Je pense que le professeur Hogg a dit que
ce n’était pas le cas pour l'instant.

M. Monahan : Assurément, j’en conviendrais moi aussi. Hier
soir, en plus de relire le compte rendu des témoignages d’hier, j’ai
relu dans son intégralité le rapport Molgat-Cosgrove. Cela dit en
passant, il est intéressant de noter qu’a ’époque, en janvier 1984,
le Sénat, ou il y avait alors 104 si¢ges, comptait 23 siéges vacants.
Peu importe ce que le premier ministre aurait pu dire, le fait qu’il y
a actuellement 10 siéges vacants ne peut en aucun cas étre
interprété comme un manquement a l’obligation de conseiller
adéquatement le gouverneur général. Vous pouvez imaginer les
scénarios, certains ont d’ailleurs été discutés hier, avec lesquels la
composition du Sénat se trouverait profondément bouleversée si
aucune nomination n’était effectuée pendant cinq ans. Ainsi, la
moitié des membres du Sénat pourrait fort bien disparaitre. Je ne
pense pas que nous en soyons la et que nous puissions nous perdre
en conjectures quant a ce qui pourrait se passer. Je suis d’accord
avec le professeur Hogg pour dire que dans I’état actuel des choses
rien n’oblige le premier ministre & recommander des nominations
au Sénat et qu’il n’y a la rien de déplacé.

Le sénateur Angus : J’imagine que dans ce sens, le mot « doit »
doit étre pris dans son sens relatif.

M. Monahan : Le texte dit : « Le gouverneur général doit, sur
lavis du premier ministre [...] » Le premier ministre n’a pas
conseillé, par conséquent le gouverneur général n’a pas convoqué.

Le sénateur Angus : Parfait. Ma question suivante porte
davantage sur la discussion de ce matin concernant le caractére
autonome du projet de loi S-4. A quel moment ce caractére
autonome risque-t-il d’étre empoisonné, si vous me passez
I’expression, par l'introduction, pendant la méme législature, de
projets de loi qui ne seraient pas nécessairement de la compétence
d’un processus électoral? Manifestement, nous ignorons ce qu’un
tel projet de loi pourrait dire ou s’il sera ou non déposé au Sénat
ou a la Chambre des communes. Par contre, est-il un moment
donné analogue aux fruits de I'arbre empoisonné — cette autre
doctrine qui concerne la preuve en droit? Votre commentaire a ce
sujet, je vous prie?

M. Monahan : Pour I'instant, le projet de loi S-4 est un projet
de loi autonome et qui subira le sort qu’il mérite. Par conséquent,
si un autre projet de loi, qui pourrait, mettons, prévoir un mode
d’¢élection, était jugé invalide, ce serait évidemment la pire des
éventualités. Cela aurait-il pour conséquence d’entrainer le projet
de loi S-4 dans sa chute? Non, parce que si le projet de loi S-4 est
effectivement un projet de loi autonome, il est tout a fait distinct
de tout autre projet de loi. Par conséquent, selon les principes
normaux du droit, les tribunaux vont couper certaines parties du
méme projet de loi, si I’une de ses parties n’est pas bonne ils diront
que si le reste peut demeurer valide, il demeurera valide. Dans
cette hypotheése, nous aurions deux projets de loi distincts, S-4 et
un autre qui serait déposé par la suite, de sorte que je ne vois pas
pourquoi, méme avec cette hypothése, cet autre projet de loi
hypothétique représenterait une difficulté constitutionnelle, ou
génerait la validité du projet de loi S-4.
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Senator Angus: I agree. However, given the fact that the Prime
Minister has so clearly stated that Bill S-4, albeit a stand-alone
measure, is part of a larger process and is but one step in an
incremental series of measures designed to reform the Senate, it
could be argued legally that it would impair. You are quite clear
in your view that it would not impair Bill S-4; is that correct?

Mr. Monahan: That is correct, senator.

Senator Hubley: We have heard many witnesses in the last
short while and it has troubled me that when we are speaking of
the representation in the Senate of each province, we seem to be
forgetting the regions of Canada. I think one witness said that
regions were dead, which I believe is really incorrect.

When we look at Canada as a country, we take great pride in
referring to it as being from sea to sea to sea; we are very careful
to do that. We are a country of provinces and territories.

I come from Prince Edward Island. We have four Senate
seats and four House of Commons seats. In their wisdom, the
Fathers of Confederation protected Prince Edward Island in
that we are the small under the great, which is reflected in all
our provincial symbols, but we are also an equal partner in
Canada. There are 10 provinces and three territories. We have
the same rights for representation that every other province
has. Our premier sits at the first minister’s table. If we change
the numbers, if we somehow play a numbers game in this
exercise, do we not diminish not only our constitutional
right to representation, but also what that would do for the
other regions?

I would like to link Prince Edward Island with the North. The
North is large in area but small in numbers. If my vision of the
Senate does not include that kind of representation, I do not think
we are honouring our role to represent regions and minorities. [
know Prince Edward Island would not be satisfied with three,
four or five. If it is to become a numbers game, let us have the
same numbers that every other province has.

Mr. Monahan: Are you suggesting in reference to the
resolution introduced by Senators Austin and Murray that there
should be either no change or some change? I know there has
been reference many times and indeed yesterday to the so-called
Triple-E Senate. Is this what you are suggesting?

Senator Hubley: I am suggesting that if we change the numbers,
if we add more to one part of the country, we are automatically
decreasing the constitutional powers of other provinces, or other
areas.

Mr. Monahan: Let me simply say, senator, that I do not favour
a Triple-E Senate; I do not think it is appropriate in a country
such as Canada. 1 understand that in the United States,
Switzerland and Australia, the Senate has equal representation

Le sénateur Angus : Je suis d’accord. Cela dit, comme le premier
ministre a aussi clairement indiqué que le projet de loi S-4, méme s’il
est autonome, fait partie d’un processus d’ensemble et n’est qu'une
de plusieurs mesures successives destinées a réformer le Sénat, on
pourrait soutenir, sur le plan juridique, qu’il y aurait effectivement
géne. Mais vous nous dites clairement qu’a votre avis, cela ne ferait
pas obstacle au projet de loi S-4, est-ce que je me trompe?

M. Monahan : Pas du tout, sénateur.

Le sénateur Hubley : De nombreux témoins nous ont dit
derniérement, ce qui m’a tracassée, que lorsque nous parlons de la
représentation de chaque province au Sénat, nous semblons
oublier les régions. Un de nos témoins nous a dit, je crois, que les
régions étaient mortes, ce qui a mon sens est en fait incorrect.

Lorsqu’on envisage le Canada comme un pays, nous nous
enorgueillissons beaucoup de pouvoir dire que c’est un pays qui
s’étend d’un océan a I’autre, et nous prenons bien soin de le dire.
Nous sommes un pays composé de provinces et de territoires.

Je suis de I'fle-du-Prince-Edouard. Nous avons quatre siéges
au Sénat et quatre siéges a la Chambres des communes. Dans leur
sagesse, les Péres de la Confédération ont protégé I'ile-du-Prince-
Edouard en ce sens que nous sommes tout petits sous la houlette
des grands, ce qui se refléte d’ailleurs dans toutes nos armoiries
provinciales, mais nous sommes néanmoins un partenaire égal a
part entiére au Canada. Il y a 10 provinces et trois territoires. Du
point de vue de la représentation, nous avons les mémes droits
que n’importe quelle autre province. Notre premier ministre siége
a la table des premiers ministres. Si nous changeons les chiffres, si
nous commengons a jouer avec les chiffres, n’allons-nous pas
diminuer aussi non seulement le droit que la Constitution nous
donne d’étre représentés, mais également ce que cela ferait pour
les autres régions?

Je voudrais faire le paralléle entre I’fle-du-Prince-Edouard et le
Nord. Le Nord est un vaste territoire mais qui est peu peuplé. Si
ma vision du Sénat ne tient pas compte de ce genre de
représentation, je ne pense pas que nous fassions honneur a
notre role qui est de représenter les régions et les minorités. Je sais
que I"fle-du-Prince-Edouard ne se contenterait pas de trois, quatre
ou cing. Si on commence a jouer avec les chiffres, qu’au moins on
nous donne les mémes chiffres que n’importe quelle autre
province.

M. Monahan : Voulez-vous parler d’'un élément de solution
introduit par les sénateurs Austin et Murray pour lesquels il
faudrait soit certains changements, soit pas de changements du
tout? On a déja beaucoup parlé de ce qu’'on a appelé le Sénat
Triple-E, et la chose a d’ailleurs encore été évoquée hier. Est-ce
cela que vous préconisez?

Le sénateur Hubley : Ce que je dis, c’est que si nous changeons
les nombres, si nous accordons a une région du pays plus de
siéges au Sénat, nous diminuerons de ce fait les pouvoirs
constitutionnels des autres provinces ou régions.

M. Monahan : Je dirai simplement, madame le sénateur, que je
ne préconise pas un Sénat Triple-E; je ne crois pas que ce soit
indiqué pour un pays comme le Canada. Je crois savoir qu’aux
Etats-Unis, en Suisse et en Australie, le Sénat comporte une
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for the member states or constituent parts of the federation, but
they are quite different from Canada. We have Ontario with a
very large proportion of the population. We have the province of
Quebec with a distinctive character and role to play. Therefore, I
do not think it appropriate in Canada to have a Triple-E Senate.

That being said, the Senate is not simply to mirror the House
of Commons. There is the necessity to balance the House of
Commons — which is supposedly on the basis of representation
by population, although it deviates significantly from that — at
least that was the intention of the drafters of the Constitution Act,
1867, to balance that against a second chamber with regional
representation. It is therefore appropriate to have some
counterbalancing, but I do not think it would be appropriate to
have a Triple-E Senate.

Is the precise formula of Senators Murray and Austin
justifiable? I really have not thought that extensively about it. I
do note that the 1984 report of the joint committee recommended
an increase to 144 senators and increased representation to the
Western provinces, as well as to certain other regions. That was a
careful report studied over an extensive period of time, almost
two years of hearings. There have been many other reports.

All T would suggest is that there should be time taken in
consideration of that question, and care taken to address the
concerns that you identify, which I think are important concerns.
I am not quite sure what the exact formula should be, but I think
we need to balance the need for regional representation with the
realities of Canada.

Senator Hubley: Thank you very much. I do agree.

Senator Tkachuk: In regard to the eight-year term, the
reappointment is silent so we assume that the Prime Minister
can reappoint a senator who is serving an eight-year term. Could
you extend the term before the term ended?

Mr. Monahan: 1 have not thought about that, senator. I
suppose the Prime Minister could indicate his intention to advise
the Governor General to reappoint the person. Could the
Governor General issue an order appointing someone for a
second term when the first term had not yet expired? I would want
to reflect on that; I am not sure what the answer would be.

I suspect we would have to look at the terms in which an
appointment to the Senate is now made and the terms on which it
is held. However, I suppose it would be open to the Prime
Minister to indicate that it was his intention to advise the
Governor General some time before the termination of a
member’s initial eight-year term.

représentation égale des Etats-membres ou des régions
constituantes de la fédération, mais c’est bien différent au
Canada. Une trés grande proportion de la population
canadienne se trouve en Ontario. Il y a aussi le Québec qui a un
caractere et un role distinct. Par conséquent, je ne crois pas que le
Sénat Triple-E soit une bonne idée pour le Canada.

Cela dit, le Sénat n’est pas simplement le miroir de la Chambre
des communes. Il faut faire le contrepoids de la Chambre des
communes — qui est essentiellement fondée sur la représentation
selon la population, bien qu’elle s’en éloigne considérablement —
du moins, ceux qui ont rédigé la loi constitutionnelle de 1867
avaient pour intention de faire le contrepoids a la Chambre des
communes en créant une deuxiéme chambre fondée sur la
représentation selon les régions. Ce contrepoids est tout a fait
indiqué, et je ne crois pas qu’il serait bon de faire de notre Sénat
un Sénat Triple-E.

La formule précise des sénateurs Murray et Austin est-elle
justifiable? Je vous avoue que je n’y ai pas beaucoup réfléchi. Je
note cependant que le rapport de 1984 du comité mixte
recommande que le nombre de sénateurs passe a 144 et qu’on
augmente la représentation des provinces de 1’Ouest et de
certaines autres régions. Ce rapport donnait suite a une étude
approfondie qui avait pris presque deux ans. Il y a eu bien
d’autres rapports.

Je ne peux que vous encourager a bien réfléchir a cette question
ainsi qu’aux autres préoccupations que vous avez soulevées, qui
m’apparaissent importantes. J'ignore quelle devrait étre la
formule exacte, mais je crois qu’il faut trouver le juste équilibre
entre la nécessité de garantir la représentation des régions et les
réalités du Canada.

Le sénateur Hubley : Merci beaucoup. J’abonde dans le méme
sens que vous.

Le sénateur Tkachuk : En ce qui concerne le mandat de huit
ans, le projet de loi est si peu précis qu'on peut présumer que le
premier ministre pourra renouveler le mandat d’un sénateur qui
aura déja servi huit ans. Pourrait-on prolonger le mandat avant
qu’il n’arrive a échéance?

M. Monahan : Je n’y ai pas pensé, sénateur. Je suppose que le
premier ministre pourrait indiquer son intention de demander
au gouverneur général de nommer a nouveau le sénateur. Le
gouverneur général pourrait-il nommer pour un deuxiéme mandat
un sénateur dont le premier mandat ne serait pas encore terminé?
11 faut que j’y réfléchisse, je ne suis pas trop str de ce que serait la
réponse.

Jimagine qu’il faudrait examiner les conditions en vertu
desquelles les nominations au Sénat sont faites actuellement et
les conditions en vertu desquelles les sénateurs remplissent leur
mandat. Toutefois, je suppose que le premier ministre pourrait
indiquer qu’il a I'intention de demander au gouverneur général de
renouveler le mandat d’un sénateur dont le premier mandat de
huit ans ne serait pas encore terminé.
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Senator Tkachuk: My assumption would have been that there
would have to be a vacancy first, but the devil is always in the
details so I thought I would ask. Maybe it is something we might
want to think about here.

Mr. Gibson made much of the eight-year term and the Prime
Minister being able to appoint all of the senators over two terms. |
argued with him yesterday on the basis that there is not much
difference between a house being filled with one political party
over eight years or it being filled over three terms, which has been
the case.

More important, is there enough of a constitutional
convention — I think there is, although I think there would
also be political pressure on a prime minister in those cases — to
ensure there is a viable opposition in the Senate?

Mr. Monahan: I would want to reflect on that. Prime ministers
obviously have appointed members from other parties over the
course of the history of the Senate. Is there a constitutional
convention that they do so? I have not turned my mind to that. I
would want to reflect on it a little more and look at some of the
statements that might have been made by prime ministers to that
effect. Is there sufficient support to indicate that a prime minister
would feel himself or herself to be bound? That would be an
essential part of that test, so I am not really confident I could give
you a clear answer to that question this morning.

Senator Tkachuk: We have officers of Parliament; we have
opposition leaders. I suppose there have been instances
provincially where the electorate has been very generous and
given a legislature all the members of one party with the exception
of one or two and, therefore, they sort of set up their own little
opposition. You say that you want to think about this a little
while.

I am not sure how we deal with that. Should we ask you to
think about it and perhaps write back to us? It is something that
we should think about, or perhaps there can be an amendment to
this bill to ensure that.

Mr. Monahan: Let me reflect upon it a bit more, having not
thought about it previously. It is the case that even in previous
instances where a government had appointed a very significant
majority of the senators because that government had served in
office for a long period of time, there has always been some
continuity of an opposition in the Senate, simply because there
have been senators, up until 1965, who served for life or, since
1965, who served to age 75. Even at the time of Mr. Mulroney’s
term or the end of Mr. Trudeau’s term or the end of
Mr. Chrétien’s term, there were members of opposition parties
still in the Senate. They did from time to time appoint members of
different parties, but it was a relatively infrequent occurrence. The
existence of that opposition contingent, if you will, was not a
product of the conscious decision of the Prime Minister to say,
“Well, I have to appoint these opposition members so that there is
a viable opposition in the Senate,” because there always was a
viable opposition in the Senate.

Le sénateur Tkachuk : Moi, je tenais pour acquis qu’il faudrait
d’abord qu’un poste soit vacant, mais les difficultés surgissent des
menus détails et c’est pourquoi je vous ai posé la question. Nous
voudrons peut-étre y réfléchir.

M. Gibson a parlé longuement du mandat de huit ans et de la
possibilité, pour le premier ministre, de nommer tous les sénateurs
sur une période équivalant a deux mandats. J’en ai discuté avec lui
hier, et j’ai fait valoir qu’il n’y avait pas vraiment de différence
entre le fait de remplir la Chambre haute de sénateurs d’un seul
parti politique sur une période de huit ans ou sur une période
équivalant a trois mandats, ce qui a été le cas.

Mais le plus important, c’est de savoir si la convention
constitutionnelle suffit a garantir une opposition viable au
Sénat — ce qui, selon moi, est le cas, bien que jestime qu’il y
aurait aussi des pressions politiques qui s’exerceraient sur le
premier ministre dans une telle situation.

M. Monahan : Je voudrais y réfléchir. Au cours de I’histoire du
Sénat, il est arrivé que des premiers ministres nomment au Sénat
des membres d’autres partis. Y a-t-il une convention
constitutionnelle a ce sujet? Je n’y ai pas réfléchi. Il faudrait que
jexamine la question ainsi que les déclarations qui ont peut-étre
été faites par des premiers ministres a cet égard. Y a-t-il
suffisamment d’indications pour croire que les premiers
ministres se sentent tenus de respecter cette convention? Voila
ce qu’il faudrait déterminer et je ne suis pas convaincu de pouvoir
vous donner une réponse claire ce matin.

Le sénateur Tkachuk : Nous avons des hauts fonctionnaires du
Parlement; nous avons des leaders de 'opposition. Je suppose
que, dans les provinces, il est arrivé que les électeurs soient trés
généreux et donnent aux membres dun seul parti tous les si¢ges
de l'assemblée législative, a ’exception d’un ou deux, et que ce
parti doive alors créer sa propre petite opposition. Vous avez dit
vouloir y réfléchir.

Moi, je me demande quelle est la solution. Pouvons-nous vous
demander d’y penser et de nous répondre par écrit? Je crois que
nous devrions examiner cette question et peut-étre envisager un
amendement au projet de loi.

M. Monahan : Je n’y ai pas encore réfléchi, et il me faudrait
étudier la question. Méme quand le méme parti restait au pouvoir
pendant une longue période, il est arrivé qu’il nomme la grande
majorité des sénateurs, mais il y a toujours eu une certaine
continuité au sein de I'opposition au Sénat, tout simplement parce
qu’il y avait des sénateurs qui avaient été nommés a vie, jusqu’en
1965 ou, depuis 1965, qui siégeaient au Sénat jusqu’a 75 ans.
Méme a la fin du mandat de M. Mulroney, de M. Trudeau ou de
M. Chrétien, il y avait encore des représentants des partis
d’opposition au Sénat. Il leur est arrivé de nommer des
membres d’autres partis, mais rarement. L’existence d’une
opposition au Sénat ne tient donc pas au fait que le premier
ministre a décidé délibérément de nommer des sénateurs
représentant I’opposition afin qu’il y ait une opposition viable
au Sénat, mais tout simplement au fait qu’il y a toujours eu une
opposition viable au Sénat.
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The scenario we would now face under Bill S-4, if enacted, is,
how would a Prime Minister approach that in the future? You
identify a serious question. It would seem to raise a difficulty if all
of the members of the Senate had been appointed by a single
Prime Minister. We would look to the Prime Minister at that time
to exercise his or her responsibilities in a constitutionally
appropriate manner, and there may well evolve some
convention in the matters you describe, senator. However, I am
not confident we could say that there is now such a convention.

Again, I would want to do some research and think about it. I
am not asking for an assignment, senator. Before I express a view
on it, I would want to look at previous precedents and statements
that have been made to see whether there is support for that. My
inclination would be to say that at this time there is no
constitutional convention because there has not been a necessity
for a Prime Minister to appoint members of a different party to
maintain an opposition in the Senate. Prime Ministers do that
perhaps for political considerations in terms of appearing to or
perhaps actually appointing members in a non-partisan way to
the Senate.

Senator Tkachuk: There is a grandfather clause, so it is not an
immediate priority.

Senator Munson: I have but a simple question. Do you not
think we should have the right to know what method of selection
or election would happen in phase two before we pass judgment
on term limits? You talked about something behind the curtain,
and it has been written that incremental change is laudable but
only if the final picture is in place. Do you not think we should
have the right to know where we are going before we say
something today?

Mr. Monahan: [ am here as a constitutional lawyer. I am really
straying off my terrain by getting into this type of question.
Obviously, it would be desirable to see whatever legislation is to
be enacted or proposed before this bill were approved. I would
not put it at the level of there being a right to know. I think it
would be desirable.

Senator Munson: To me, it would be a courtesy to senators
because it is about us and our future.

Senator Watt: Mr. Monahan, my question refers to the
amending formula. It does not seem to be clear in my mind as
to what applies and what does not apply. Section 44 is a
statement that Parliament can do this. Section 42 pulls back
from section 44 by the fact that the power of the Senate and the
method of selecting senators are dealt with under section 42. You
are saying that Bill S-4 is constitutional, but there is doubt
whether it is a constitutional document per se merely looking at
the procedures that are laid out under the amending formula,
unless we give more interpretation to what does not really exist
under section 44.

Si le projet de loi S-4 était adopté, il y aurait lieu de se
demander comment le premier ministre agirait a ’avenir. Vous
avez soulevé la une question importante. Ce serait un probléme de
taille si tous les sénateurs étaient nommés par un seul et méme
premier ministre. Dans une telle situation, on ne peut qu’espérer
que le premier ministre exercerait ses responsabilités
conformément a la Constitution, et il se peut qu'une convention
se développe pour les questions que vous soulevez, sénateur.
Toutefois, je ne suis pas certain de pouvoir affirmer qu'une telle
convention existe.

Je devrais donc faire des recherches et y réfléchir. Je ne vous
demande pas des devoirs, monsieur le sénateur. Cependant, avant
de donner mon point de vue, je voudrais examiner les précédents
et les déclarations qui ont pu étre faites sur cette question pour
déterminer si quoi que ce soit indique qu’une telle convention
existe. J’ai le sentiment qu’il n’y a pas de convention
constitutionnelle a ce sujet, tout simplement parce qu’il n’a
jamais été nécessaire pour le premier ministre de nommer au
Sénat des membres d’autres partis pour assurer ’existence dune
opposition au Sénat. Quand les premiers ministres agissent ainsi,
c’est habituellement pour des motifs politiques, pour donner
I'impression que la nomination n’est pas sectaire.

Le sénateur Tkachuk : Il y a une disposition garantissant les
droits acquis, ce n’est donc pas une priorité.

Le sénateur Munson : Je n’ai qu'une question toute simple.
Croyez-vous que nous avons le droit de connaitre la méthode de
sélection ou d’élection qui sera adoptée pendant la deuxiéme
phase de cette réforme avant de nous prononcer sur la durée du
mandat? Vous avez parlé de choses cachées, et il a été écrit que les
changements graduels sont souhaitables seulement si le résultat
final est bien défini. Ne croyez-vous pas que nous avons le droit
de savoir vers quoi nous nous dirigeons avant de nous prononcer
sur la durée du mandat?

M. Monahan : Je suis ici a titre de spécialiste du droit
constitutionnel. Je m’aventure en dehors de mes compétences en
répondant a une telle question. Il serait évidemment souhaitable
de prendre connaissance de la loi qui serait adoptée ou proposée
avant d’approuver ce projet de loi. Je n’irais pas jusqu’a dire qu’il
existe un droit de savoir. Je pense que ce serait souhaitable.

Le sénateur Munson : A mes yeux, ce serait faire preuve de
courtoisie envers les sénateurs, parce que c’est notre avenir qui est
en cause.

Le sénateur Watt : Monsieur Monahan, ma question porte sur
la formule d’amendement. Je ne suis pas str de bien comprendre
ce qui s’applique et ce qui ne s’applique pas. A I'article 44, on dit
que le Parlement peut prendre cette mesure. L’article 42 est en
retrait par rapport a l'article 44, puisque l'article 42 traite des
pouvoirs du Sénat et de la méthode utilisée pour choisir les
sénateurs. Vous dites que le projet de loi S-4 est constitutionnel,
mais un doute subsiste quant a savoir s’il s’agit d’'un document
constitutionnel dans lequel on se contente de passer en revue la
procédure prévue aux termes de la formule d’amendement, a
moins que I'on ne donne une interprétation plus large d’une
disposition qui n’existe pas vraiment a ’article 44.
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I can understand the Prime Minister of the country running the
government and using Parliament to kick off initiatives and move
forward, but the minute you start to get into the role of the
Senate, such as the selection of senators and its power, I believe
this kicks us back into section 42.

During the last negotiations, in which you were involved, sir,
I remember dealing with this particular aspect. At that time, we
were doubtful as to whether the interpretation would go in that
direction or the other direction. I remember this as being a matter
that would have to be left to the Supreme Court of Canada to
provide a ruling. I am trying to bring our memory back to a few
years ago when you were dealing with this particular subject
matter.

Does that affect your earlier statement that there might be
something else behind the curtains that is not anticipated, or it is
being anticipated now but not spelled out in terms of what will
really happen? There are many ifs, ands and buts.

I would like to raise another issue as well. We have always said
that whatever happens, happens. I refer to the fact that Quebec
did not sign the accord. Does that hinder what this government is
trying to do?

Mr. Monahan: With regard to the first matter concerning the
interpretation of sections 42 and 44, you referred to some earlier
proposals. I believe you are referring to the Charlottetown
Accord.

Senator Watt: Yes.

Mr. Monahan: That accord had a comprehensive set of
changes to the Senate, including the powers of the Senate and
the method of selecting senators. Obviously that is a rather
different proposal from what we have before us today.

I do not think that the Charlottetown Agreement, or indeed the
Meech Lake Accord, which also required unanimous consent, is
really relevant to assessing the constitutional validity of Bill S-4.
For the reasons I have already expressed, I think it is within
Parliament’s power under section 44 and does not engage the
matters identified in section 42.

As for Quebec’s failure to agree to the 1982 Constitution,
that, of course, has been reviewed by the Supreme Court and
although it may be a matter of political concern, it does not
impair the validity of the Constitution or the amending formula
as it now exists. Bill C-110, which is not part of the Constitution,
but is a statute, is an attempt to protect Quebec, and other
regions, from changes enacted under section 42 to which they
did not consent. Therefore, the change that Senators Austin
and Murray have proposed would be subject to Bill C-110.
Quebec would have to consent to that. However, that is not the
case with respect to Bill S-4 because it is enacted under section 44
and Bill C-110 does not require the provinces to consent to
changes under section 44.

Je peux comprendre que le premier ministre veuille diriger le
gouvernement et utiliser le Parlement pour lancer des initiatives et
aller de ’avant, mais dés 'instant ou ’on commence a se méler du
réle du Sénat, de la nomination des sénateurs et de leurs pouvoirs,
je crois que cela nous rameéne a larticle 42.

Durant les derniéres négociations, auxquelles vous avez
participé, monsieur, je me rappelle d’avoir abordé ce point
précis. A ce moment-la, nous ne savions pas trop si
I'interprétation irait dans ce sens ou dans le sens opposé. Je me
rappelle que 1'on disait qu’il faudrait s’en remettre a la Cour
supréme du Canada pour rendre une décision la-dessus. J’essaie
de nous ramener a cette période, il y a quelques années, lorsque
vous vous penchiez sur cette question précise.

Est-ce que cela met en cause votre déclaration de tout a I'heure,
quand vous avez dit qu’il y avait peut-étre quelque chose d’autre, un
élément camouflé qui n’est pas prévu ou qui est prévu mais n’est
énoncé clairement? Il y a beaucoup de si et de mais dans tout cela.

Je voudrais également soulever un autre point. Nous avons
toujours dit que ce qui est arrivé est arrivé. Je me reporte au fait
que le Québec n’a pas signé I’accord. Cela fait-il obstacle a ce que
tente de faire le gouvernement actuel?

M. Monahan : Sur le premier point, a savoir l'interprétation
des articles 42 et 44, vous avez fait allusion a des propositions
antérieures. Je pense que vous vouliez parler de I'accord de
Charlottetown.

Le sénateur Watt : Oui.

M. Monahan : Cet accord comportait un ensemble de mesures
apportant des changements en profondeur au Sénat, notamment
les pouvoirs du Sénat et la méthode de sélection des sénateurs. Il
s’agissait évidemment d’une proposition assez différente de celle
qui nous est présentée aujourd’hui.

Je ne pense pas que l’entente de Charlottetown, ni méme
I’accord du Lac Meech, qui exigeait aussi le consentement
unanime, soient vraiment pertinents pour évaluer la
constitutionnalité du projet de loi S-4. Pour les raisons que j’ai
déja énoncées, je pense que ce projet de loi est conforme aux
compétences du Parlement prévues a I’article 44 et ne met pas en
cause les affaires évoquées a I'article 42.

Quant au fait que le Québec n’a pas ratifié la Constitution
de 1982, la Cour supréme s’est évidemment penchée sur la
question et, bien que cela suscite des préoccupations d’ordre
politique, cela n’entache nullement la validité de la Constitution
ni de la formule d’amendement qui existe actuellement. Le projet
de loi C-110, qui ne fait pas partie de la Constitution, mais qui est
une loi, est une tentative visant a protéger le Québec et les autres
régions contre des changements apportés aux termes de
I’article 42 sans leur consentement. Par conséquent, le
changement que les sénateurs Austin et Murray ont proposé
serait assujetti au projet de loi C-110. Il faudrait que le Québec
donne son consentement. Cependant, ce n’est pas le cas du projet
de loi S-4, parce que cette mesure est prise aux termes de
l’article 44 et le projet de loi C-110 n’exige pas que les provinces
donnent leur consentement a des changements apportés sous
I’égide de I'article 44.



5:22

Senate Reform

21-9-2006

Senator Fraser: This is a lay question about what is proper. The
bill before us amends the Constitution of Canada. There is an
argument, which I find increasingly persuasive, that this bill,
despite the assurances that it stands on its own merits, is in fact
trying to do almost two contradictory things. On the face of it, it
is trying to deal with the Senate which is an appointed body,
functions in a certain way and has certain roles; the only change
would be to the tenure of senators. On the other hand, we have
also been told that it is preparing the way for an elected Senate.

It seems to me that, by the nature of things, the way you want
to set up an appointed chamber and the way you want to set up
an elected chamber are quite different. Appointment normally
would suggest longer and non-renewable terms so as to guarantee
the independence of the person once appointed rather than their
being beholden to whomever. Whereas people are not elected for
unbelievably long terms because the popular mandate will
dissipate, it will not be legitimate. I am not at all sure that you
can do both those things in one bill.

Would it be constitutionally ludicrous or inappropriate to say
you have to do this in two stages, even if the two stages come
quite closely together? Using section 44, could the terms be
changed now, establishing term limits in the light of an appointed
chamber, then quite soon thereafter, perhaps six months, do
another constitutional amendment to effect the same thing?
Would we look like jerks if we changed the same clause of the
Constitution twice, basically, within a short period of time?

Mr. Monahan: It would certainly be unusual to do that. I am
not sure it would be necessary because if we look back at the
Molgat-Cosgrove report, they envisaged a nine-year term, eight
or nine years, as setting the stage for further reform toward an
elected Senate. They favoured an elected Senate. They thought
that was an interim measure that could be justified on its own
terms.

I am not sure that even if there is some change made at a
second stage that the eight-year term would be inappropriate. On
balance, I think it would be better to have non-renewable terms,
although you did not ask me that, for precisely the reason that
everyone is aware. If a renewable term is available, one has that in
the back of one’s mind and it may colour how one carries out
one’s duties and responsibilities. I would prefer, as did the 1984
committee, a non-renewable term. I think that is a slight
preference. It is a matter of policy for the government and for
Parliament. I do not think that it would likely be necessary to
make a further change. In any event, even if it were, that would be
for Parliament to so provide.

Le sénateur Fraser : Ma question est celle d’un profane et porte
sur ce qui est acceptable de faire. Le projet de loi dont nous
sommes saisis modifie la Constitution du Canada. On a avancé un
argument, que je trouve de plus en plus convainquant, voulant
que ce projet de loi, en dépit des assurances qu’on nous donne
voulant qu’il soit tout a fait défendable, est en fait une tentative de
faire deux choses quasiment contradictoires. A premiére vue, il
porte sur le Sénat qui est un organisme dont les membres sont
nommeés, qui fonctionne d’une certaine maniére et qui a certains
roles; le seul changement serait la durée du mandat des sénateurs.
D’un autre c6té, on nous a dit également qu’il prépare la voie a un
Sénat élu.

I me semble qu’il faudrait naturellement s’y prendre de
maniére trés différente pour créer une Chambre nommée et une
Chambre élue. Dans une Chambre dont les membres sont
nommés, on prévoit normalement des mandats plus longs et
non renouvelables de maniére a garantir I'indépendance de la
personne aprés sa nomination, pour qu’elle ne doive rien a
quiconque. Par contre, les gens ne sont pas élus pour des mandats
extraordinairement longs, parce que le mandat populaire se
dissiperait, il ne serait plus légitime. Je ne suis pas du tout certain
que l'on puisse faire ces deux choses différentes dans un seul
projet de loi.

Serait-il ridicule ou inapproprié, aux yeux d’un
constitutionnaliste, de dire qu’il faudrait procéder en deux
étapes, méme si les deux étapes étaient trés rapprochées? En
invoquant l’article 44, pourrait-on modifier dés maintenant la
durée des mandats en établissant la limite dans Ioptique d’une
Chambre nommée, pour revenir tout de suite aprés, peut-étre
six mois plus tard, en apportant une autre modification
constitutionnelle ayant le méme effet? Aurions-nous I’air fou si
nous changions deux fois le méme article de la Constitution a trés
bréve échéance?

M. Monahan : Ce serait certainement inhabituel. Je ne suis pas
certain que ce serait nécessaire parce que si I’on se reporte au
rapport Molgat-Cosgrove, les auteurs envisageaient un mandat de
huit ou neuf ans qui préparerait la voie a une réforme plus
poussée, en direction d’un Sénat élu. Ils étaient en faveur d’un
Sénat ¢élu. Ils croyaient que ce serait une mesure provisoire qui
serait justifiée comme telle.

Je ne suis pas certain, méme si des changements étaient
apportés a I’étape de la deuxiéme lecture, que le mandat de huit
ans ne soit pas approprié. Tout bien considéré, je pense qu’il serait
préférable d’avoir des mandats non renouvelables, quoi que vous
ne m’ayez pas posé la question, précisément pour la raison que
tout le monde connait. S’il était possible de faire renouveler son
mandat, chacun aurait a ’esprit cette possibilité qui risquerait
d’influer sur la maniére dont on s’acquitte de ses taches et de ses
responsabilités. Je préférerais un mandat non renouvelable,
comme l’avait recommandé le comité en 1984. Je trouve que
c’est légérement préférable. C’est affaire de politique pour le
gouvernement et pour le Parlement. Je ne pense pas qu’il serait
nécessaire d’apporter un nouveau changement. Quoi qu’il en soit,
méme si ce I’était, ce serait au Parlement d’en décider.
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Senator Fraser: [ have a couple of observations, if I may. Those
with long institutional memories around here tell me that the
Senate never adopted the Molgat-Cosgrove report.

This is a personal observation, but I think it is pertinent. I have
been here eight years this month. Under this bill, if T were not
grandmothered, I would be leaving. Let me tell you, the thought
that I would be the most senior senator present is terrifying. A
great part of the value of this place, which one appreciates more
when one is here, resides in that longer institutional memory and
weight of experience and expertise that comes with time and
cannot come in any other way.

Senator Chaput: Mr. Monahan, I want to ensure [ understand.
Bill S-4, as it is now, is a stand-alone measure and can
be addressed under section 44. If an amendment was made to
Bill S-4 in regard to, for example, 12 years non-renewable
and that was the only amendment brought to Bill S-4, would it
still be a stand-alone measure and could it still be addressed
under section 44?

Mr. Monahan: Yes, that would be my view.

[Translation)

Senator Chaput: Since the term of office for senators is closely
tied to the election process, it is difficult to tackle the issue of
senate tenure without tackling that of the election process.

Would it be acceptable to move an amendment that would
make Bill S-4 conditional on the election process, since one could
not occur without the other? Would this kind of amendment be
receivable? If so, would Bill S-4, amended in this way, still come
under section 44?

[English)
Would it still be a stand-alone measure?

Mr. Monahan: Senator, if I understand, you are proposing to
link the term under Bill S-4 with some other provision around the
manner in which senators are selected, or elected.

[Translation)

Senator Chaput: For example, if the Prime Minister appoints a
senator, his or her term cannot comply with Bill S-4 until the
election process has been implemented.

[English)
I am not a lawyer as you can see.

Mr. Monahan: The concern is that by trying to link Bill S-4
with the method of selection, you run the risk of saying that
Bill S-4 is not a stand-alone measure but is part of a larger set of
proposals. Therefore, it must not be regarded as one change in
tenure but as an element of a larger change in the method of

Le sénateur Fraser : Je voudrais faire deux observations. Ceux
parmi nos collégues qui ont une longue mémoire institutionnelle
me disent que le Sénat n’a jamais adopté le rapport Molgat-
Cosgrove.

C’est une observation personnelle, mais que je trouve
pertinente. Cela fera huit ans ce mois-ci que je siege a cet
endroit. Au terme de ce projet de loi, si je n’avais pas de droits
acquis, je devrais partir. Laissez-moi vous dire que je trouve
terrifiante la pensée que je puisse devenir le sénateur ayant le plus
d’ancienneté. La valeur de notre institution tient en grande partie,
et on s’en rend compte davantage quand on y siege, a cette
longue mémoire institutionnelle et au poids de I’expérience et de
I’expertise qui vient avec le temps et que ’on ne peut acquérir
d’aucune autre maniére.

Le sénateur Chaput : Monsieur Monahan, je veux m’assurer de
bien comprendre. Le projet de loi S-4, dans sa forme actuelle,
est une mesure autonome qui peut étre prise aux termes de
l’article 44. Si un amendement était apporté au projet de loi S-4,
par exemple en ce qui a trait aux 12 ans non renouvelables, et si
c’¢était le seul amendement apporté au projet de loi S-4, s’agirait-il
toujours d’'une mesure autonome et pourrait-elle toujours étre
prise aux termes de I’article 44?

M. Monahan : Oui, c’est ce que je pense.

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Chaput : Puisque la durée du mandat des sénateurs
est liée de trés prés au processus d’élection, il est difficile
d’aborder la question de la durée du mandat des sénateurs sans
aborder celle du processus d’élection.

Serait-il acceptable de proposer un amendement qui rendrait le
projet de loi S-4 conditionnel au processus d’élection, 'un ne
pouvant pas survenir sans ’autre? Ce genre d’amendement est-il
possible et acceptable? Si c’était le cas, le projet de loi S-4, amendé
de cette fagon, référerait-il encore a I’article 44?

[Traduction]
Serait-ce encore une mesure autonome?

M. Monahan : Si j’ai bien compris, sénateur, vous proposez de
lier le mandat fixé par le projet de loi S-4 a une autre disposition
relative a la fagon dont les sénateurs sont choisis ou élus.

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Chaput : Par exemple, si le premier ministre
nomme un sénateur, le mandat ne peut pas étre de la durée prévue
par le projet de loi S-4 tant et aussi longtemps que le processus
d’¢lection n’est pas mis en vigueur.

[Traduction]
Comme vous pouvez le constater, je ne suis pas avocate.

M. Monahan : Le probléme, c’est qu’en essayant d’associer le
projet de loi S-4 au mode de sélection, on risque de dire que le
projet de loi S-4 n’est pas une mesure distincte, mais qu’elle fait
partie d’un ensemble de propositions. Par conséquent, il ne s’agira
plus simplement d’un changement dans le mandat, mais d’un
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appointment of senators. If that were so, then the danger would
be that Bill S-4 would fall because it could not be deemed a stand-
alone measure. In fact, the other proposed legislation would also
fall. There would be a danger that by linking the two bills to
consider them part of a package designed to change the method of
appointment because it would be said that it is not appropriate to
elect senators for life or to age 75, and that the change in tenure is
part of a larger package, then the risk would be the courts would
say that it is an attempt to change the method of selection of
senators, which cannot be done under section 44.

Senator Angus: That flows directly from my earlier question on
at what stage the stand-alone measure becomes effective
by written or unwritten linkage. I understood your answer to
Senator Chaput to mean that once there is a specific reference
in Bill S-4 — amended as it would have to be to have that
reference — linking it to the other bill, at that point do you feel
that it would be prejudiced?

Mr. Monahan: Yes. I do not know what the terms of the
amendment would be but the risk is that at the point when a court
says that the bill is part of a larger package and not a stand-alone
measure, there would be a much stronger argument and it would
more likely be the case that the courts would come to that
conclusion.

Senator Angus: I rather like the idea, but none of us knows
what is behind the curtain, although it would be useful to know.
Eight years seems to be a fairly appropriate term in conjunction
with an elective process. However, we do not know when or if
there will be such a process and so my preference is a non-
renewable 10-year term. The Prime Minister seems to be flexible
on the point. In that respect, I do not feel I am going against his
wishes. He wants senators to be involved in the process, to be the
masters of the destiny of this place and to help him to make it
better.

I was pleased with your answer that you think that the bill is
fine as it is and that if there is no provision or statement by the
Prime Minister to indicate that it is part of an incremental process
to be followed by another bill, you do not think that that kind of
linkage would render it unconstitutional; is that correct?

Mr. Monahan: No. I do not need to repeat what I said earlier.
The matter of eight or 10 years is for senators to determine. An
eight- or nine-year term seems reasonable. Ten years would
probably be one of the longest Senate terms of any upper chamber
in the world. I am not sure if there is an upper chamber with a
term of ten years.

Senator Austin: The House of Lords is a life term.

Mr. Monahan: Yes, but apart from that chamber. The
sentiment in favour of a term, be it eight, nine or 10 years, as
articulated by the Prime Minister reflects the fact that,
notwithstanding Senator Fraser’s comment about the value of
seniority and experience, Canadians view an appointment for life
or to age 75 as something that is inappropriate. Such a term does
not enhance the reputation of this chamber to have members
appointed to age 75. To have senators appointed for a term,

élément d’un plus grand ensemble visant le mode de nomination
des sénateurs. Si ¢’était le cas, on risquerait alors de condamner le
projet de loi S-4, parce qu’il ne serait plus considéré comme une
mesure autonome. En fait, 'autre projet de loi tomberait aussi.
C’est ce qu’on risque en associant les deux projets de loi, qui
seraient percus comme faisant partie d’'un ensemble de mesures
destinées a modifier le mode de nomination, et on dirait qu’il
n’est pas acceptable d’élire des sénateurs a vie ou jusqu’a 1’age
de 75 ans, et que la fixation du mandat fait partie d’un plus grand
ensemble de mesures : les tribunaux pourraient dire qu’il s’agit
d’une fagon détournée de changer le mode de sélection des
sénateurs, ce qu’interdit I'article 44.

Le sénateur Angus : Cela découle directement de la question
que jai posée plus tot, sur le moment auquel une mesure
autonome entre en vigueur, en raison d’un lien écrit ou non.
Si jai bien compris votre réponse au sénateur Chaput, toute
mention dans le projet de loi S-4, avec cette référence, cette

association a l'autre projet de loi, pourrait a votre avis
compromettre celui-ci?

M. Monahan : Oui. Je ne sais pas comment serait libellé
I’amendement, mais dés qu’un tribunal dira que le projet de loi
fait partie d’'un ensemble de mesures législatives, qu’il n’est pas
indépendant d’autre mesure, le risque sera plus grand, ’'argument
plus défendable, et il est plus probable que les tribunaux en
viendront a cette conclusion.

Le sénateur Angus : J’aime bien cette idée, mais personne ne
sait ce qui se cache dans cette boite-cadeau, et on aimerait bien
savoir. Un mandat de huit ans semble convenable, s’il est associé
au processus électoral. Nous ne savons toutefois pas si ce
processus électoral existera, ni quand, et je préfére donc un
mandat non renouvelable de 10 ans. Le premier ministre semble
vouloir faire preuve de souplesse. Voila pourquoi je ne pense pas
le contrarier par cette proposition. Il veut que les sénateurs
participent au processus, qu’ils soient maitres de leur destin ici et
qu’ils I'aident a améliorer les choses.

J’ai été ravi de vous entendre dire qu’a votre avis le projet de loi
est trés bien tel quel, et que si aucune disposition ou déclaration
du premier ministre n’indique qu’il s’agit d’un processus graduel
et qu’il serait suivi par un autre projet de loi, alors, ce genre de lien
ne le rendrait pas inconstitutionnel, n’est-ce pas?

M. Monahan : Non. Je n’ai pas a répéter ce que j’ai dit plus tot.
C’est aux sénateurs de décider si ce sera huit ou dix ans. Un
mandat de huit ou neuf ans semble raisonnable. Le mandat
de 10 ans serait probablement le plus long mandat sénatorial au
monde. Je ne sais pas s’il y a une autre chambre haute qui prévoit
un mandat de 10 ans.

Le sénateur Austin : A la Chambre des lords, on est sénateur a vie.

M. Monahan : Oui, c’est la seule exception. Le sentiment
populaire en faveur d’un mandat de huit, neuf ou 10 ans, comme
I’a présenté le premier ministre, montre bien qu’aux yeux des
Canadiens, une nomination a vie ou jusqu’a I’dge de 75 ans est
inacceptable, malgré I'argument du sénateur Fraser sur la valeur
de I’ancienneté et de I’expérience. Une nomination jusqu’a I’dge
de 75 ans ne rehausse en rien la réputation de cette chambre. Il est
plus souhaitable de nommer les sénateurs pour un mandat fixe, en
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recognizing the balance between experience and so on, is
desirable. It would enhance to a degree the sense that the
Senate is not there to provide individuals with a position for the
remainder of their working lives.

Senator Tkachuk: I have a supplementary to my earlier line of
questioning. With regard to the eight-year term, current senators
are grandfathered or grandmothered in Bill S-4 so there would be
no opportunity for a prime minister, over eight years, to appoint
anyone. Some 90 of us will retire over the next number of years so
the appointment process would take place over time as senators
retire.

Mr. Monahan: Yes, with due respect, senator, that is not an
answer to the point.

Senator Tkachuk: I am asking the question.

Mr. Monahan: Over time, these grandparented senators would
eventually retire and then you would be faced with, assuming no
other change, a situation wherein the entire membership of the
Senate would turn over in an eight-year period. It seems
appropriate to have a term of that nature or magnitude and I
would favour a non-renewable term.

The Chairman: Dean Monahan, thank you for taking the time
to appear today. Your testimony will be useful to the committee’s
deliberations on its report on Bill S-4.

[Translation]

Honourable senators, we shall resume our hearing. We will
now welcome our former colleague, the Honourable Gérald
Beaudoin, Professor Emeritus at the Faculty of Law of the
University of Ottawa, as well as Mr. Gérald Tremblay, a partner
with McCarthy Tétrault. Welcome, Senator Beaudoin. The floor
is yours.

Hon. Gérald-A. Beaudoin, Professor Emeritus, Faculty of Law,
University of Ottawa, as an individual: Mr. Chairman, it is with
great pleasure that I appear before you today. I am very pleased
to be testifying on a subject of constitutional law, because that is
what I have been teaching for most of my life.

[English]

It is a great pleasure to be back in the Senate today to say a few
words concerning Bill S-4.

Many countries have reformed their upper house — the
Americans in 1913, the Germans and many others — but we are
the only great democracy, together with Great Britain, to have a
second house that is not elected. Prima facie, I am here as a
professor and a former senator, but I am dealing with legality
only. If you ask me whether I am in favour of an elected Senate,
I will say yes, for just one reason — it is more democratic.
Perhaps we missed the boat and we are very late to do it,
but still I am in favour of an elected Senate.

Is Bill S-4 constitutional? Yes, in my opinion, I have no doubt
that it is constitutional.

reconnaissant la nécessité de maintenir 1’équilibre entre
I’expérience et le reste. On n’aurait plus I'impression que le
Sénat existe pour offrir a certaines personnes un poste pour le
reste de leur vie professionnelle.

Le sénateur Tkachuk : J’ai une question complémentaire a
celle que j’ai posée plus tot. Au sujet du mandat de huit ans,
les sénateurs actuels ont des droits acquis en vertu du projet
de loi S-4; le premier ministre ne pourrait donc nommer aucun
sénateur avant huit ans. Environ 90 d’entre nous prendront leur
retraite au cours des prochaines années et le processus de
nomination s’étalerait au fur et a mesure que les sénateurs
prendront leur retraite.

M. Monahan : Oui, mais sauf votre respect, sénateur, ce n’est
pas une réponse a ce qui a été dit.

Le sénateur Tkachuk : Je pose la question.

M. Monahan : Avec le temps, ces sénateurs disposant de droits
acquis en viendraient a prendre leur retraite et si rien ne change,
on se retrouverait dans une situation ou tous les membres du
Sénat seraient renouvelés sur une période de huit ans. Un mandat
de cette durée me semble convenir et je serais aussi en faveur d’un
mandat non renouvelable.

Le président : Monsieur Monahan, merci d’avoir pris le temps
de témoigner devant nous aujourd’hui. Vos propos seront utiles
pour les délibérations du comité sur le projet de loi S-4.

[Frangais]

Honorables sénateurs, nous reprenons la séance. Accueillons
maintenant notre ancien collégue, I’honorable Gérald Beaudoin,
professeur émérite a la faculté de droit de I'Université d’Ottawa
ainsi que M. Gérald Tremblay, associé au cabinet d’avocats
McCarthy Tétrault. Je vous souhaite la bienvenue. Sénateur
Beaudoin, la parole est a vous.

L’honorable Gérald-A. Beaudoin, professeur émérite, Faculté de
droit, Université d’Ottawa, a titre personnel : Monsieur le
président, c’est pour moi un grand plaisir de comparaitre
aujourd’hui devant vous. C’est formidable de témoigner sur un
sujet du droit constitutionnel parce que c’est ce que j’ai enseigné
presque toute ma vie.

[Traduction]

Je suis vraiment content de revenir au Sénat pour vous dire
quelques mots au sujet du projet de loi S-4.

Beaucoup de pays ont procédé a une réforme de leur chambre
haute, comme les Américains en 1913, les Allemands et bien
d’autres. Nous sommes toutefois la seule grande démocratie, avec
la Grande-Bretagne, a avoir une chambre haute non élue. Je suis
ici a titre de professeur, je suis un ancien sénateur, mais je ne vous
parlerai que des aspects juridiques. Si vous me demandez si je suis
pour un Sénat élu, je répondrai que oui, pour la simple raison que
c’est plus démocratique. Peut-étre avions-nous raté le coche,
peut-étre sommes-nous des retardataires, mais je suis en faveur
d’un sénat ¢lu.

Le projet de loi est-il constitutionnel? Oui. A mon avis, je suis
persuadé qu’il est constitutionnel.
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[Translation)

The wish is to limit the term of office of senators. It was done
in 1965, and the desire is to do so again soon, or this year. We do
not know the future, but in my opinion, it is the same thing once
again. It is much broader in scope, of course, but this is still an
issue of Senate tenure.

I believe that section 44 of the Constitutional Act applies. In
the Supreme Court decision of 1980, it says that the fundamental
aspects of the Senate must not be tampered with. This is true.
But we must not forget that in 1982, when we repatriated
the Constitution, we created an amending formula with
sections 41, 42, 43, 44, and so on.

In my opinion, that is what should guide us. The Canadian
Parliament may unilaterally state that from now on, a senator’s
term of office will be eight years.

I discussed this with my former colleague, Senator Murray,
who suggested going before the Supreme Court. I have nothing
against the Supreme Court, I have a great deal of regard for that
institution, but if there is something that should be decided by
Parliament, then that is indeed what Parliament may do.

I thus conclude that Bill S-4 may be passed without it being
necessary to turn to the Supreme Court. Section 44 states:

[English]

It is only the length of senators’ terms, which is before us. The
federal government can act unilaterally, subject to sections 41 and
42. Section 41 is unanimity; section 42 is 7-50 and is in four parts:
the powers of the Senate; the number of senators per province; the
method of the selection of senators; and the residence
qualifications of senators. However, under section 42, there are
four domains that we have to follow.

In this regard, I do not see any problem, but some people
have raised an important point. We know that Bill S-4 is possible;
we know that Bill S-4, in itself, is constitutional. However,
we do not know what will happen in the fall; we do not know
what will happen with the next piece of legislation. I have come
to the conclusion that phase one, although related to phase two —
if we come to phase two — stands alone. It is a phase in and
of itself.

I repeat that I think it is constitutional, but the minute we hear
about what will take place after that, then we are into phase 2,
and of course phase 2 is 7-50. We cannot change the number of
senators per province except with 7-50. If we change the number,
if we change the mode of selection, it is 7-50.

One point that is really difficult is what if you want to abolish
the Senate? In my opinion, it is unanimity because it is in
section 41. The Senate is an institution and is part of the
amendment formula, and to change the amendment formula you
need unanimity as stated in section 41. Consequently, if you want

[Frangais)

On veut restreindre la durée du mandat des sénateurs. On I'a
fait en 1965 et on voudrait le faire ces jours-ci ou cette année. On
ne connait pas l’avenir mais & mon avis c’est encore la méme
chose. C’est beaucoup plus considérable, bien sir, mais il est
encore question de la durée du mandat au Sénat.

Je pense que I'article 44 de la Loi constitutionnelle s’applique.
Dans l'affaire de la Cour supréme de 1980, on a dit qu’il ne fallait
pas toucher aux domaines fondamentaux du Sénat. C’est vrai.
Mais il ne faut pas oublier qu’'en 1982 on a rapatrié la
Constitution, on a fait une formule d’amendement avec les
articles 41, 42, 43, 44, et cetera.

D’aprés moi, c’est ce qui doit nous gouverner. Le Parlement
canadien peut unilatéralement dire que dorénavant la durée du
mandat des sénateurs sera de huit ans.

Jen ai parlé avec mon ancien collégue, le sénateur Murray, qui
suggere d’aller devant la Cour supréme. Je n’ai rien contre la Cour
supréme, j’ai beaucoup d’estime pour cette institution, mais s”il y
a quelque chose qui doit étre décidé au Parlement, c’est bien ce
que le Parlement peut faire.

J’en arrive donc a la conclusion que le projet de loi S-4 peut
étre adopté sans qu’il soit nécessaire d’aller devant la Cour
supréme. L’article 44 dit :

[Traduction]

Il ne s’agit que de modifier le mandat des sénateurs, ce dont
nous sommes saisis. Le gouvernement fédéral peut agir
unilatéralement en vertu des articles 41 et 42. L’article 41 exige
I'unanimité; l’article 42 exige l’accord de sept provinces
représentant 50 p. 100 de la population du pays et compte
quatre parties : le pouvoir du Sénat, le nombre de sénateurs par
province, la fagon de choisir les sénateurs et les conditions
relatives a leur domicile. Toutefois, en vertu de I'article 42, il y a
quatre domaines applicables.

A ce sujet, je n’entrevois pas de probléme, mais certaines
personnes ont soulevé une objection importante. Nous savons que
le projet de loi S-4 est possible. Nous savons que le projet de loi S-4,
en soi, est constitutionnel. Nous ne savons pas toutefois ce qui se
produira cet automne ni ce qu’il adviendra du prochain projet de
loi. J’en suis venu a la conclusion que la premiére étape, bien
qu’associée a la deuxiéme, si elle est proposée, est une étape
indépendante. C’est une étape en soi.

Je vous répéte que j’estime que c’est constitutionnel. Toutefois,
dés que nous entendrons parler de ce qui se passera aprés, nous
entamerons la deuxiéme phase, soit la phase 7-50. Nous ne
pouvons modifier le nombre de sénateurs par province sans avoir
recours a la formule 7-50. Si nous modifions le nombre de
sénateurs, il faut alors modifier le mode de sélection, soit par le
biais de la formule 7-50.

Il y a une autre question épineuse, soit celle de savoir ce qu’il
adviendra si on veut abolir le Sénat. A mon avis, cela exige
I'unanimité en vertu de 'article 41. Le Sénat est une institution et
fait partic de la formule d’amendement. Pour changer cette
formule, vous devez obtenir I'unanimité, comme le dit ’article 41.



21-9-2006

Réforme du Sénat

5:27

to abolish the Senate, you need Ottawa and the 10 provinces on
side. Some people say, “Yes, but it could be challenged in the
Supreme Court.” Perhaps the court will not be so severe, if I could
use that term.

However, section 41 is there, it is the amendment formula, and
there is no doubt that the Senate is involved in the amendment of
the Constitution — differently from the House of Commons, but
the Senate is there. For the number of seats for each province,
the method of selecting senators, the powers of the Senate, is
always 7-50, but the abolition is, in my opinion, a question that
comes under section 41. To abolish the Senate you need
unanimity.

The provinces are divided. That is part of federalism. Some
people say all avenues are blocked, so we should forget about this,
there is no solution; some provinces are talking about abolishing
the Senate and so on. However, in my opinion, we have to do
something. The Senate is very important because it improves the
legislation of the House of Commons. It is an institution. The
raison d’étre of the Senate is to change and to improve the system.
I am strongly against the abolition of the Senate, but I am obliged
to say that to abolish the Senate requires unanimity. That is
important, because unanimity and 7-50 are very different.

This is all I have to say to start with. I have heard my good
friend, Mr. Monahan, this morning, and yesterday I heard
Mr. Peter Hogg, and we agree on many aspects, except perhaps
the abolition of the Senate and except perhaps the Supreme
Court. I was surprised yesterday when some people asked what
happened to the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court is right in
section 41. You cannot change the composition of the Supreme
Court except by unanimity. If you cannot do that, you cannot be
against the existence of the Supreme Court.

I will end there, and I would be quite pleased to answer your
questions.

The Chairman: Thank you, Professor Beaudoin.

[Translation]

Gérald R. Tremblay, partner, McCarthy Tétrault, as an
individual: Mr. Chairman, I am very honoured to have been
invited to come to speak to you. We are discussing a very
important stage in our evolution as a country. I must thank those
who thought to invite me.

[English)

For me, this is very humbling, because the person who spoke
before me is the person who formed me. Despite the fact that he
looks younger than me, I studied law at the University of Ottawa,
and he was my teacher. Everything I know, I owe to him. Besides
that, we have the same first name in the common, Gérald-A. and
Gérald R., so you have to know that Gérald R. was formed by
Gérald-A. The only thing missing, and I say this with all humility,
is that I am not “honourable.” What can I say?

Par conséquent, si on veut abolir le Sénat, il faut qu’Ottawa et les
10 provinces soient d’accord. Certains disent que ¢a pourrait étre
contesté devant la Cour supréme. Mais la Cour ne fera peut-étre
pas preuve d’autant de sévérité, si je puis m’exprimer ainsi.

L’article 41 existe, il s’agit de la formule d’amendement et il ne
fait aucun doute que le Sénat participe a la procédure
d’amendement de la Constitution mais dune fagon différente de
la Chambre des communes. Si on veut changer le nombre de
sieges par province, la maniére de choisir les sénateurs, ou encore
les pouvoirs du Sénat, il faut avoir recours a la formule 7-50.
Pour abolir le Sénat, il faut 'unanimité.

Les provinces sont partagées. Ca fait partie intégrante du
fédéralisme. Certains disent que toutes les issues sont bloquées,
qu’on devrait laisser tomber parce qu’il n’y a pas de solution;
certaines provinces parlent d’abolir le Sénat. A mon avis, il faut
faire quelque chose. Le Sénat est une institution trés importante
car il améliore les lois de la Chambre des communes. Il s’agit
d’une institution. La raison d’étre du Sénat est de modifier et
d’améliorer le systéme. Je m’oppose farouchement a I’abolition du
Sénat, mais je suis obligé de vous dire que pour abolir le Sénat il
faut obtenir le consentement unanime. Ce détail est tres
important, car 'unanimité et la formule 7-50 sont deux choses
trés différentes.

C’est tout ce que j’ai a dire pour le moment. J’ai écouté le
témoignage ce matin de mon bon ami, M. Monahan, ainsi que
celui de M. Peter Hogg hier. Nous sommes d’accord sur bien des
points sauf peut-étre I'abolition du Sénat et peut-étre aussi la
question de la Cour supréme. J’étais surpris hier lorsque certaines
personnes ont demandé ce qu’il en était pour la Cour supréme. La
Cour supréme se trouve dans I'article 41. Vous ne pouvez changer
la composition de la Cour supréme sans avoir obtenu le
consentement unanime. Si vous ne pouvez pas l’obtenir, alors
vous ne pouvez pas vous opposer a lexistence de la Cour
supréme.

Cela conclut mon exposé. Je suis prét a répondre a vos
questions.

Le président : Merci, professeur Beaudoin.

[Frangais]

Gérald R. Tremblay, associé, McCarthy Tétrault, a titre
personnel : Monsieur le président, je suis trés honoré d’avoir été
invité a m’adresser a vous. Il s’agit ici d’une étape trés importante
dans notre évolution canadienne. Je tiens a remercier ceux qui ont
eu I'idée de m’inviter.

[Traduction]

Je prends humblement la parole parce que le témoin qui m’a
précédé est la personne a qui je dois ma formation. Bien qu’il ait
lair plus jeune que moi, c’était mon professeur de droit a
I’Université d’Ottawa. Je lui dois toutes mes connaissances. De
plus, nous partageons le méme prénom; vous devez donc savoir
que Gérald-A. a formé Gérald R. Et la seule chose qui manque
maintenant, et je le dis en toute humilité, c’est que je n’ai pas le
titre d” « honorable ». Que puis-je ajouter?
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Mr. Beaudoin: It will come.

Mr. Tremblay: Then we cannot have an elected Senate, can we?

[Translation]

At the outset, I would say that it is important for a democracy,
from time to time, the review its institutions. That is an important
aspect of life.

[English]

You need to take stock of where you are and ask whether you
should go somewhere else.

[Translation]
These introspective reviews are very important.

We must also be open to reform, but it must be motivated by
the right reasons. A public opinion a consensus will have to be
reached or brought about in the Canadian electorate among
Canadian citizens, that Senate reform is needed, not because the
Senate has not played its role, nor because the Senate is a useless
institution; quite the contrary.

I know several of you. I have good friends who served as
senators and some who serve today. Over the years, I have
followed the deliberations of the Senate. Anyone following these
things closely realizes to what extent a second house is useful, and
is in fact essential.

Over the course of Canadian history, extremely important
events have unfolded here in the upper chamber. Very significant
amendments to some legislation were made here. Public debates
were provoked by positions that were taken in the Senate. The
debates surrounding the free trade agreement are one example of
that. It was in the Senate, rightly or wrongly, that an extremely
serious debate was held that forced a second substantive debate,
one that finally brought about understanding across the country
of why the Free Trade Agreement was passed and the reasons
why some supported it and others opposed it. The Senate was the
important setting for this debate, which was of paramount
importance.

We are therefore discussing reform, but not necessarily in order
to court public opinion.

If you think that Senate reform will appeal to public opinion,
look at current American public opinion regarding the United
States Congress. The level of dissatisfaction is such that people
say the Houses are ineffective. According to the polls, almost
60 per cent of American citizens feel that the system does not
work. That therefore says that a better system will not necessarily
improve public opinion.

Reforms should not be carried out because there is a temporary
call from public opinion, they should be carried out because after
giving it sufficient thought, we have arrived at the conclusion that
it must be done.

M. Beaudoin : Ca viendra.

M. Tremblay : Alors, on ne peut pas avoir un Sénat élu,
n’est-ce pas?

[Frangais]

Pour commencer, je dirai qu’il est important pour une
démocratie de revoir, de temps a autre, ses institutions. Voila
un aspect important de la vie.

[Traduction]

Vous devez réfléchir a ou vous vous trouvez et vous demander
si vous ne devriez pas aller ailleurs.

[Frangais]
Ces introspections sont trés importantes.

Il faut également étre ouvert a la réforme, mais il faut qu’elle
soit motivée par les bonnes raisons. Or, il faudrait au moins
dégager un consensus, ou provoquer un consensus, dans I’opinion
publique, dans I’électorat canadien et chez les citoyens canadiens,
selon lequel si on a besoin d’une réforme du Sénat, ce n’est pas
parce que le Sénat n’a pas rempli son réle ou que le Sénat est une
institution inutile; au contraire.

Je connais plusieurs d’entre vous. J’ai de bons amis qui ont été
sénateur et qui le sont aujourd’hui. Au cours des années, j’ai suivi
les travaux du Sénat. Quiconque regarde les choses de plus prés
réalise a quel point une deuxiéme chambre est d’une utilité, voire
d’une nécessité totale.

Au cours de I’histoire du Canada, des événements extrémement
importants se sont déroulés ici a la Chambre haute. Des
amendements trés importants a certaines législations ont été
apportés ici. Des débats publics furent provoqués par des prises
de position au Sénat. On peut citer, par exemple, les débats
entourant ’Accord du libre-échange. C’est au Sénat, a tort ou a
raison, que s’est tenu le débat extrémement sérieux qui a obligé un
deuxiéme débat de fond, et qui a finalement mené a une
compréhension a travers le Canada a savoir pourquoi 1’Accord
de libre-échange fut adopté et les raisons pour lesquelles certains
s’y opposaient et d’autres I'appuyaient. Le Sénat a été le lieu
important d’un tel débat, qui revétait une importance capitale.

¢ is pas né i u i
On parle donc de réforme, mais pas nécessairement pour plaire
a I'opinion publique.

Si vous pensez qu’une réforme du Sénat plaira a ’opinion
publique, regardez I’opinion publique actuelle sur le Congrés aux
Etats-Unis. Le taux d’insatisfaction est tel que les gens disent que
les Chambres sont inefficaces. Selon les sondages, prés de
60 p. 100 des citoyens américains affirment que le systéme ne
fonctionne pas. C’est donc dire qu’un meilleur systéme ne
rehausse pas nécessairement 1’opinion publique.

Les réformes se font non pas parce qu’il y a un mouvement
temporaire de I'opinion publique, elles se font parce qu’aprés
mire réflexion on en arrive a la conclusion qu’elles doivent se
faire.
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Democratically speaking, I agree with Professor Beaudoin. It is
clear that it should not be the norm that, in its absolute discretion,
the executive appoint the legislator. In the general theory of the
separation of powers, the legislators legislate and the executive
carries out the intentions of the legislators.

There is coherent system in which the executive appoints the
legislator who subsequently gives the exit instructions. All of this
reflects 500 years of history; taking us back to the English barons
and the House of Lords, the British Upper Chamber which was
the most important.

What was it to be a real citizen at that time? The most
important people of that era were those who owned land, that was
the most important thing, and a true Englishman was a
landowner. It is for this reason that it is mentioned in the
Constitution that a senator must be a landowner. That is the
tradition.

However, we do not get rid of a tradition in a cavalier fashion;
it must be done circumspection, as it may sometimes unbalance
the organization overall. This means that in time, we should have
an elected Senate. But in order to do so, it is true that
constitutional amendments are necessary, but much can be done
without constitutional amendment.

Incidentally, there are practices that have been established over
the years that have become constitutional conventions without
the texts ever having been touched. Take, for example, the
appointment of judges. The Canadian Constitution simply states
that the Governor General will appoint judges. Nowhere is it
written that there will be a judicial council or committees of the
Bar.

If we want to appoint a judge, a committee of the Judicial
Council must be consulted. I do not believe that a superior court
could deem the appointment of a judge by the Governor General,
signed by her hand, to be illegal because a committee was not
consulted. Today, no government would do so without organizing
a committee. Mechanisms can be put in place that would not
require any of those big constitutional sessions, where everyone
wants to bring his or her particular issue to the table, which means
that nothing never comes of these sessions.

As far of the legality of Bill S-4 is concerned, we can say
without hiding our heads in the sand that Bill S-4 alone, without
being tied to a bigger project, would not have been proposed. I
agree with Professor Beaudoin. If it is legal to move from lifetime
appointments to those which end at the age of 75 years, it is also
legal to do something else. As lifetime appointments were not
written in stone, neither would terms of office until the age of 75.

The way in which the Constitution Act of 1867 is drafted is
interesting. In one section, it says that a senator is appointed for
life and in the next section it says that a senator is appointed until
the age of 75. That means that in order to respect the intention of
the legislators, a senator, in order to be in office for life, would
have to die before the age of 75.

Sur le plan démocratique, je suis d’accord avec le professeur
Beaudoin. Il est évident qu’il n’est pas normal que dans sa
discrétion absolue, I’exécutif choisisse le législateur. Dans la
théorie générale de la séparation des pouvoirs, le législateur
légifere et I’exécutif exécute l'intention du 1égislateur.

On se trouve dans une circularité parfaite dans laquelle
I'exécutif nomme le législateur, lequel, par la suite, donne les
instructions. Tout cela refléte 500 ans d’histoire avec les barons
anglais, la Chambre des lords, la Chambre haute qui était la plus
importante.

Etre un vrai citoyen a cette époque c’était quoi? Les plus
importants citoyens du temps étaient ceux qui possédaient de la
terre, c’était la chose la plus importante et un vrai Anglais de
souche possédait de la terre. C’est pour cette raison que dans la
Constitution il était mentionné qu’un sénateur devait étre
propriétaire terrien. C’était la tradition.

Toutefois, on ne se débarrasse pas dune tradition avec
une taloche, il faut le faire avec circonscription car cela peut
parfois débalancer I’ensemble de I'organisme. Cela signifie
qu’éventuellement on devrait avoir un Sénat élu. Mais pour ce
faire, il est vrai que des amendements constitutionnels sont
nécessaires, mais beaucoup peut étre atteint sans amendement
constitutionnel.

Incidemment, il y a des pratiques qui se sont établies au cours
des années qui sont devenues des conventions constitutionnelles
sans jamais toucher aux textes. Prenons l’exemple de la
nomination des juges. La Constitution canadienne dit
simplement que le gouverneur général nomme les juges. Nulle
part il n’est écrit qu’il y aura le conseil de la magistrature ou des
comités du Barreau.

Si on veut nommer un juge, il faut consulter le comité du
conseil de la magistrature. Je ne pense pas qu’une cour supérieure
pourrait dire que la nomination d’un juge par le gouverneur
général, signée de sa main, serait illégale parce que les comités
n’ont pas été consultés. Aujourd’hui, aucun gouvernement ne le
ferait sans former un comité. On peut mettre en place des
mécanismes qui n’entrainent pas ces grandes sessions
constitutionnelles, ou chacun veut amener son petit probléme
particulier sur la table, ce qui fait qu’on n’en sort jamais.

Quant a la légalité du projet de loi S-4, on peut dire sans se
mettre la téte dans le sable, que le projet de loi S-4 seul, sans étre
rattaché & un plus grand projet, n’aurait pas été proposé. Je suis
d’accord avec le professeur Beaudoin. S’il est 1égal de partir de la
nomination a vie et la réduire a 75 ans, il est 1égal aussi de faire
autre chose. Puisque la nomination a vie n’était pas coulée dans le
ciment, le mandat jusqu’a I’age de 75 ans ne ’est certainement pas
non plus.

Jai trouvé intéressant la fagon dont est écrite la Loi
constitutionnelle de 1867. Dans un article, on dit qu’un sénateur
est nommé a vie et a ’article suivant on dit qu’il est nommé
jusqu’a 75 ans. Cela veut donc dire que pour respecter 1’esprit du
législateur, il faudrait que le sénateur, pour pouvoir siéger a vie,
meure avant 75 ans.
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Historically speaking, we understand where this incongruity
comes from, but it is still amusing for someone reading the text to
realize that life must necessarily end before the age of 75.

At the time when the legislative council existed, care was taken
in section 72 to state the following:

The Legislative Council of Quebec shall be composed of
Twenty-four Members... each holding office for the Term of
his Life, unless the Legislative of Quebec otherwise
provides...

If we apply the general principles of interpretation and
section 72 gives the legislature the power to ‘“otherwise
provide,” are we to infer that the federal legislator did not have
the same power because it was not stipulated in the Constitution
Act of 1867? We cannot say that it did not occur to them because
the rest of the text deals with senators.

The Qualifications of the Legislative Councillors of
Quebec shall be the same as of those of Senators.

In 1867, the Parliament in London had thought of giving the
power to reduce the term to the legislature. When we look at the
provision in the 1867 Constitution Act on the Senate, we see that
this reservation does not appear. It could be argued that
Parliament’s intent was to make that untouchable. However, it
is too late to argue that that was the intent, because the term was
set at age 75, and this went unchallenged.

I would also like to say that we have to give some meaning to
all of the provisions regarding constitutional amendment.
Section 44 states:

Parliament may exclusively make laws amending the
Constitution of Canada in relation to the executive
government of Canada or the Senate.

There would be a strong legal basis for saying that it can do
everything regarding the Senate, except that which is excluded in
the other sections.

Those are my comments. Once again, I thank you for inviting
me to appear before the committee, and I will be pleased to listen
to your questions and to Senator Beaudoin’s answers. If I can add
anything, I would be pleased to do so.

[English]

Senator Austin: I appreciate having this opportunity to
question our two witnesses. My old colleague and friend
Senator Beaudoin and I have had discussions even on television
with respect to these issues. I will come to that in a moment.

I want to ask each of you a question.

Senator Angus: You are on television now, by the way,
senator.

Senator Austin: I like to ignore that because I am not
somebody who wants to be a celebrity. I am more interested in
the substance than the presentational side of this.

Sur le plan historique, on comprend d’ou vient cette
incongruité, mais il est quand méme amusant pour la personne
qui lit le texte de constater que la vie doit nécessairement se
terminer avant 1’dge de 75 ans.

A I’époque o le conseil législatif existait, on avait pris la peine,
a larticle 72, de dire ceci :

Le conseil législatif se compose de 24 membres. IIs seront
nommés a vie a moins que la législature du Québec n’en
ordonne autrement.

Si on applique les principes généraux d’interprétation, et
larticle 72 donne le pouvoir a la législature d’en ordonner
autrement, ne peut-on pas en déduire que le législateur fédéral
n’avait pas le méme pouvoir parce qu’il n’a pas été réservé dans la
Loi constitutionnelle de 1867? On ne peut pas dire qu’ils n’y ont
pas pensé parce que tout le reste est relié aux sénateurs.

Les qualifications des conseillers législatifs du Québec
seront les mémes que celles des sénateurs.

En 1867, le Parlement de Londres avait a I’esprit de laisser a la
législature le pouvoir de réduire le mandat. Lorsqu’on examine la
disposition de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1867 concernant le
Sénat, on voit que la méme réserve n’existe pas. On pourrait
argumenter et dire que I'intention du législateur était de faire que
cela soit intouchable. Mais il est trop tard pour plaider cette
intention parce que le mandat a été limité a I’dge de 75 ans et ce,
sans contestation.

Jaimerais dire également qu’il faut donner un sens a I’ensemble
des dispositions sur 'amendement a la Constitution. L’article 44
dit :

Le Parlement a compétence exclusive pour modifier les
dispositions de la Constitution du Canada relatives au
pouvoir exécutif fédéral au Sénat.

Il serait solide en droit de dire qu’il peut tout faire concernant
le Sénat, sauf ce qui est exclu dans les autres articles.

Voila les remarques que je voulais faire. Encore une fois, je
vous remercie de m’avoir invité et jécouterai avec plaisir les
questions que vous poserez et les réponses que donnera le
sénateur Beaudoin et si je peux ajouter quelque chose, il me fera
plaisir de le faire.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Austin : Je suis ravi d’avoir ’occasion de poser des
questions a nos deux témoins. J’ai déja participé a des discussions
télévisées sur ces questions avec mon ami et ancien collégue, le
sénateur Beaudoin. J’y reviendrai dans un instant.

D’abord j’aimerais vous poser a chacun une question.

Le sénateur Angus : Vous étes actuellement a la télévision,
sénateur.

Le sénateur Austin : Je préfere faire fi de la télévision, car je ne
veux pas étre une célébrité. Le fond m’intéresse beaucoup plus que
la forme.
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My question is about the $4,000-dollar qualification; would
you explain to us that if we introduced a bill removing that
property qualification, could that be done under section 44?

Mr. Beaudoin: I think so. As Professor Tremblay said, it is
based on the question of property.

Mr. Cartier was very conservative, in a way. He said that the
House of Commons, although very important, had to be
“stopped,” to a certain extent, and so he thought about a
second house, which is our Senate.

Senator Austin: [ will explain my question further. If in 1867
you had asked the so-called Fathers of Confederation,
particularly those from Quebec, whether the property provision
of $4,000 was an essential characteristic of the Senate they were
creating, would they have said yes?

Mr. Beaudoin: Yes.

Senator Austin: You both agree that they would have said yes.

Can an essential characteristic of the Senate be changed under
section 44 or does it have to be interpreted into the convention?
Take the 1980 reference in which the Supreme Court said that it
was a fundamental and essential characteristic. Surely that
precedent would apply to the $4,000 property qualification. If
that was an essential characteristic then, it is an essential
characteristic today and could not be changed by section 44. An
essential characteristic is something that the provinces have
control over under the amending formula. Would you accept that
argument?

Mr. Tremblay: Could you say in 2006 that $4,000 is an
essential characteristic of anything?

Senator Austin: Could you say that the Constitution and
provisions of the Constitution are subject to a doctrine of
atrophy?

Mr. Tremblay: Maybe, yes.

Senator Austin: Is that where you are going with your question?
I would not agree with that. A constitution stands until it is
amended.

Mr. Tremblay: 1 will give you an example. At one time,
$200 for jurisdictional purposes was the threshold for a
provincially appointed judge. More than that was deemed so
much that it applied to a superior court justice appointed
at the federal level. The Supreme Court said $200 in 1867 and
the Quebec legislature said it will be $5,000 or so now, although
I do not remember the exact figure. The Supreme Court
approved that because you have to adapt with the times, and
today it stands at $75,000. Things evolve.

Mr. Beaudoin: In response to the question, I say that it falls
under section 44.

Ma question porte sur la condition de 4 000 $. Pourrions-nous
présenter un projet de loi qui supprimerait la possession d’une
propriété d’une valeur de $4000 en vertu de l’article 44?

M. Beaudoin : Je pense que oui. Comme I’a dit le professeur
Tremblay, c’était fondé sur la possession d’une propriété.

D’une certaine fagon, I’on pourrait dire que M. Cartier était
trés conservateur. Il a dit qu’il fallait dans une certaine mesure
mettre un frein a la Chambre des communes en dépit de son
importance et c’est ainsi qu’il a songé a une autre chambre, qui est
notre Sénat.

Le sénateur Austin : Je vous explique ma question. Si en 1867
on avait demandé aux soi-disant Péres de la Confédération,
surtout a ceux du Québec, si la possession d'une propriété d’une
valeur de 4 000 $ était une caractéristique essentielle du Sénat,
auraient-ils dit que oui?

M. Beaudoin : Oui.

Le sénateur Austin : Vous étes tous les deux d’accord pour dire
que les Peres de la Confédération auraient répondu oui.

Est-ce qu'une caractéristique fondamentale du Sénat peut étre
modifiée en vertu de I’article 44, ou faut-il 'interpréter dans la
Convention? Songez a la référence de 1980, dans laquelle la Cour
supréme a dit qu’il s’agissait d’une caractéristique fondamentale
et essentielle. Ce précédent s’appliquerait assurément a la
possession d’une propriété d’une valeur de 4 000 $. S’il
s’agissait d’une caractéristique essentielle a 1’époque, et cette
caractéristique est toujours essentielle de nos jours et ne peut pas
étre modifiée par I’article 44. Les provinces exercent un pouvoir
sur une caractéristique essentielle gridce a la formule
d’amendement. Etes-vous d’accord?

M. Tremblay : Pouvez vous dire en 2006, que 4 000 $ soit une
caractéristique essentielle de quoi que ce soit?

Le sénateur Austin : Pouvez-vous dire que la Constitution et ses
dispositions sont assujetties a la doctrine de ’atrophie?

M. Tremblay : Peut-étre, oui.

Le sénateur Austin: Est-ce la tangente que prend votre
question? Je ne suis pas d’accord avec ¢a. La Constitution reste
en vigueur jusqu’a ce qu’elle soit modifiée.

M. Tremblay : Je vais vous donner un exemple. A une certaine
époque, un juge nommé au niveau provincial, pour des raisons de
compétence, recevait un maximum de 200 $. Plus de 200 $
semblerait tellement exorbitant que ¢a ne s’appliquait qu’a un
juge de la Cour supréme nommé au niveau fédéral. La Cour
supréme a parlé de 200 $§ en 1867 et la législature du Québec
d’environ 5 000 §, bien que je ne me rappelle plus du montant
exact. La Cour supréme a approuvé ce changement parce qu’il
faut s’adapter a I’époque, et de nos jours ce chiffre est de 75 000 $.
Les choses changent.

M. Beaudoin : Pour répondre a votre question, je dis qu’il
s’agit de l'article 44.
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[Translation)

Subject to sections 41 and 42, Parliament has exclusive
jurisdiction to make laws amending the Constitution in relation
to the Senate.

[English]

In 1867, $4,000 was a good deal of money and could equate
$150,000 in today’s terms, although I do not know for certain.

Senator Angus: Someone said $750,000.

Mr. Tremblay: No one would accept the job today.

Mr. Beaudoin: However, they never changed it and sections 41
and 42 are special — unanimity and 7-50. All the rest falls
under section 44. We are not talking about the $4,000 so it
comes under section 44.

Senator Austin: They did not change it in 1982 and kept the
$4,000 figure in our Constitution. When we are elevated to the
Senate, we are obliged to sign a legal declaration that we are of
the net value of $4,000. You are saying that we could change that
amount under section 44.

Mr. Beaudoin: Yes, of course. Why not?

Senator Austin: As well, we could reduce the age of senators,
which is what Bill S-4 proposes; is that correct?

Mr. Beaudoin: Yes.

Mr. Tremblay: That raises the question: Could we dispense
totally with that? The fact that you attach a dollar amount to it is
one thing but could a person who has declared bankruptcy be a
senator? The Charter of Rights would say that because you were
bankrupt once does not mean that you cannot be raised from the
ashes.

Senator Austin: We could make the provision unilaterally in
Parliament that $4,000 should be $750,000, if we wanted to do so.
That is the essence of your testimony.

Mr. Beaudoin: It is only in Quebec, do not forget.

[Translation]

Senator Dawson: In Quebec, it is in a district, while in Canada
it is anywhere in the province.

Mr. Beaudoin: The situation is different in Quebec.

Senator Dawson: In Quebec, it is in a district, but in the other
provinces, it is in the province.

Mr. Beaudoin: People say that Quebec is distinct. That is true
for the Civil Code and the French language. That is so obvious
that I will not go into it. But this is also true of the “$4,000,”
to some extent. As far as I am concerned, this clearly comes
under section 44.

[Frangais)

Sous réserve des articles 41 et 42, le Parlement a compétence
exclusive de modifier les dispositions de la Constitution relatives
au Sénat.

[Traduction)

En 1867, 4 000 $ représentait une somme importante qui
reviendrait a environ 150 000 § de nos jours.

Le sénateur Angus : Certains disent méme que ¢a représente
750 000 $.

M. Tremblay : Personne n’accepterait cet emploi aujourd’hui.

M. Beaudoin : Toutefois, personne n’a changé ce montant
et les articles 41 et 42 restent trés spécifiques : il s’agit de
I'unanimité et de la formule 7-50. Tout le reste releve de
l’article 44. Nous ne parlons pas du montant de 4 000 $, donc
cela reléve de I'article 44.

Le sénateur Austin : On n’a pas changé ce montant en 1982 et
on a maintenu la somme de 4 000 $ dans notre Constitution.
Lorsque nous sommes nommés au Sénat, nous devons signer une
déclaration juridique qui indique que nous possédons une
propriété d’une valeur nette de 4 000 §. Vous dites que 1’'on
pourrait changer ce montant en vertu de larticle 44.

M. Beaudoin : Oui, bien sir. Pourquoi pas?

Le sénateur Austin : De méme, on pourrait abaisser la limite
d’age des sénateurs, et c’est ce que propose le projet de loi S-4; est-
ce exact?

M. Beaudoin : Oui.

M. Tremblay : Ce qui pose la question : pourrait-on laisser
tomber cela totalement? Le fait que vous attachiez une valeur
financiére est une chose, mais est-ce qu'une personne qui a déja
déclaré faillite pourrait étre nommée sénateur? La Charte des
droits vous dirait que ce n’est pas parce que vous avez déja déclaré
faillite que vous ne pouvez pas renaitre de vos propres cendres.

Le sénateur Austin: Le législateur pourrait déclarer
unilatéralement que ces 4 000 $ devraient étre désormais
750 000 $, s’il le veut. C’est ce que vous dites essentiellement.

Le sénateur Beaudoin : Ce n’est qu’au Québec, ne I’oubliez pas.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Dawson : Au Québec, c’est dans un district, au
Canada c’est n’importe ou dans la province.

M. Beaudoin : C’est différent au Québec.

Le sénateur Dawson : Au Québec, c’est dans un district, mais
dans les autres provinces, c’est dans leur province.

M. Beaudoin : Des gens disent que le Québec est spécifique.
C’est vrai pour le Code civil, la langue frangaise. C’est tellement
évident que je ne reviens pas la-dessus. Mais le « 4 000 $ » aussi
dans une certaine mesure. Pour moi, cela tombe certainement
sous larticle 44.
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[English]

I do not understand how it could be fall under sections 41
or 42.

Senator Austin: Allow me to read something expressed by
Professor Guy Tremblay, Faculty of Law at Laval University. He
wrote to this committee:

In my opinion, Bill S-4 cannot be passed by Parliament
alone, section 44 of the Constitution Act, 7982
notwithstanding. I do not think that the Act nullified the
Supreme Court’s 1980 ruling that “it is not open to
Parliament to make alterations which would affect the
fundamental features, or essential characteristics of the
Senate.” This opinion is set out in greater detail on pages
229-233 of the textbook that I published with Henri Brun
(Droit constitutionnel, 4th ed., Editions Yvon Blais, 2002).
Bill S-4 would in my opinion alter a fundamental feature of
the Senate. Senators who can currently sit until the age of 75
have, overall, more maturity, wisdom and independence
than senators would have who were appointed for a
renewable eight-year term. This feature cannot be
dissociated from one of the roles originally defined for the
Senate, that of giving legislation “sober second thought.”

That is why I started with the $4,000 provision that is, within
this definition, an essential feature. I gather each of you does not
agree with Guy Tremblay.

Mr. Tremblay: That is because the amending formula of 1982
has precedence over everything. If section 44 states that
Parliament can modify the Constitution, with respect to the
Senate, then look in the other provisions where it states the
powers of the Senate, their mode of selection and the number of
senators versus the number of members of the House. There is no
provision which deals with conditions like that. I assume that
inclusion is unius est exclusius alterius and if they saw fit to put
specific matters on other provisions it means that it is
untrammelled under section 44.

Senator Austin: We have opinions going in all directions.

For example, Professor Beaudoin, we had a discussion here,
led by Senator Murray, on whether the Supreme Court Act,
which is an act of the Parliament of Canada, could be removed.
What you have done is referred to section 41, which is a
constitutional reference to the composition of the Supreme
Court of Canada, however, it says nothing about its existence.
It says you cannot change the composition of the Supreme Court
of Canada, but it does not say Parliament is barred from
abolishing the Supreme Court of Canada Act.

Mr. Beaudoin: The Supreme Court of Canada did not exist
in 1867. It was created in 1875.

[Traduction]

Je ne comprends pas comment cela pourrait relever des
articles 41 ou 42.

Le sénateur Austin : Permettez-moi de vous lire 'opinion du
professeur Guy Tremblay de la Faculté de droit de I’Université
Laval. Il a écrit au comité :

Selon moi, le projet de loi S-4 ne peut pas étre adopté par
le Parlement fédéral seul, nonobstant ’article 44 de la Loi
constitutionnelle de 1982. Je crois que cette loi n’a pas rendu
caduque larrét que la Cour supréme a rendu en 1980 en
vertu duquel les caractéristiques fondamentales ou
essentielles du Sénat ne peuvent étre changées par le seul
Parlement fédéral. Cette opinion est invoquée aux pages 229
a 233 du traité que j’ai publié avec Henri Brun (Droit
constitutionnel, 4° éd., Editions Yvon Blais, 2002). Or, le
projet de loi S-4 porte atteinte, selon moi, a une
caractéristique fondamentale du Sénat. En effet, les
sénateurs pouvant actuellement siéger jusqu’a 75 ans ont
globalement plus de maturité, de sagesse et d’indépendance
que des sénateurs qui seraient nommés pour des mandats de
huit ans renouvelables. Cet aspect des choses n’est pas
dissociable d’un des réles envisagés a I’origine pour le Sénat,
celui d’accorder au projet de loi un « second examen
objectif ».

Voila pourquoi j’ai commencé avec la possession de propriété
d’une valeur de 4 000 $ qui est, dans le cadre de cette définition,
une caractéristique fondamentale. J’imagine que ni I'un ni l'autre
n’étes d’accord avec Guy Tremblay.

M. Tremblay : C’est parce que la formule d’amendement de
1982 prime tout le reste. S’il est dit a I’article 44 que la Parlement
peut modifier la Constitution, en ce qui concerne le Sénat, alors
allez lire les autres dispositions ou 1’on énonce le pouvoir du
Sénat, le mode de nomination et le nombre de sénateurs par
rapport au nombre de membres de la Chambre des communes. 11
n’y a aucune disposition qui traite de conditions comme celles-1a.
J’imagine que cette inclusion est unius est exclusius alterius, et si
I’on a jugé bon d’ajouter des mentions spécifiques dans d’autres
dispositions, cela veut dire qu’on ne peut pas y toucher en vertu de
article 44.

Le sénateur Austin : Nous entendons des opinions qui vont
dans tous les sens.

Par exemple, professeur Beaudoin, nous avons eu une
discussion ici, menée par le sénateur Murray, sur la question de
savoir si la Loi sur la Cour supréme, qui est une loi du Parlement
du Canada, pouvait étre abrogée. Vous vous étes reporté a
larticle 41, qui est une référence constitutionnelle relative a la
composition de la Cour supréme du Canada, cependant, on n’y
dit pas un mot sur son existence. Il est dit qu’on ne peut pas
modifier la composition de la Cour supréme du Canada, mais on
ne dit pas que le législateur n’a pas le droit d’abroger la Loi sur la
Cour supréme du Canada.

M. Beaudoin : La Cour supréme du Canada n’existait pas en
1867. Elle a été créée en 1875.
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Look at section 41. The decision of the court in 1980 is
superceded because in 1982 we patriated the Constitution. We
enshrined in the Constitution, finally, after 50 years, everything in
the field of amendments. Look at the amendments: Section 44,
section 41 and section 42. They apply to the Senate. With
section 41 there is unanimity. The Supreme Court is there.

Senator Austin: We are referring to its composition.

Mr. Beaudoin: If you cannot deal with the composition of the
court, a fortiori you cannot destroy the court.

Senator Austin: I do not know why you make that argument.

Composition is one category and the nature is another.

Mr. Beaudoin: No, the Supreme Court is in the Constitution,
because of section 41. It is the same reasoning as the abolition of
the Senate.

Senator Austin: You are arguing intention. The moment you
argue intention you are saying the amendment, referring to
section 41 composition, suggests an intention to constitutionalize
the Supreme Court of Canada, but you have to argue intention.
When you argue intention then you move to Guy Tremblay’s
arguments.

Mr. Beaudoin: Mr. Tremblay is not the Supreme Court or the
Constitution. If the Constitution states that the composition of
the Supreme Court cannot be dealt with except with unanimity,
a fortiori, it is the same thing for the existence of court. The court
is enshrined in the Constitution now.

The Supreme Court is there. You cannot even touch the
composition, except with unanimity. If you want to set aside the
existence of the court, it is unconstitutional, and I would plead
that in the Supreme Court.

[Translation)

Senator Angus: I would like to extend a very warm welcome to
both of you.

[English]

It is very refreshing to have both of you here at the same time.
It is helpful to have a view from the private sector in terms of the
practice of law.

Mr. Tremblay, thank you for coming. I address my first
question to you, if I may.

You made a good point. It warmed the cockles of all our
hearts when you indicated that the alleged public opinion
about the Senate is not necessarily accurate and that we
should not be stampeded into reforming or making
amendments to the structures of the Senate for the wrong
reasons.

You then indicated that, in the current environment
of democracy, it is probably anomalous to have senators
appointed. However, I thought you opened the door to a form
of appointment that might pass muster when you alluded
to how judges, for example, of our federal tribunals are

Voyez l'article 41. Le jugement du tribunal de 1980 est déposé
parce que c’est en 1982 que nous avons rapatrié la Constitution.
Nous avons inscrit dans la Constitution, enfin, aprés 50 ans, tout
ce qui concernait les amendements. Considérez les amendements :
l'article 44, Tarticle 41 et Particle 42. A propos de Iarticle 41,
il y a 'unanimité. La Cour supréme est la alors.

Le sénateur Austin : Nous parlons de sa composition.

M. Beaudoin : Si vous ne pouvez pas traiter de la composition
de la cour, a fortiori vous ne pouvez pas détruire la cour.

Le sénateur Austin : Je ne vois pas pourquoi vous me dites cela.

La composition, ¢’est une chose, et la nature de la cour, c’en est
une autre.

M. Beaudoin : Non, la Cour supréme se trouve dans la
Constitution, a cause de l'article 41. C’est le méme raisonnement
que pour 'abolition du Sénat.

Le sénateur Austin : Vous plaidez I'intention. Dés qu’on plaide
I'intention; on se retrouve a dire que ’amendement, en ce qui
concerne la composition a larticle 41, suggére I'intention de
constitutionnaliser la Cour supréme du Canada, mais pour cela, il
faut plaider l'intention. Si vous plaidez l'intention, vous vous
rapprochez des arguments de Guy Tremblay.

M. Beaudoin : M. Tremblay n’est pas la Cour supréme ni la
Constitution. Si la Constitution dit que I’on ne peut pas modifier
la composition de la Cour supréme, sauf si on a 'unanimité,
a fortiori, c’est comme dire que la cour existe. L’existence de la
cour est désormais inscrite dans la Constitution.

La Cour supréme est 1a. On ne peut méme pas toucher a sa
composition, sauf si on a 'unanimité. Si vous voulez contester
I’existence de la cour, ce n’est pas constitutionnel et j’irais
a la Cour supréme pour contester cela.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Angus : Je vous souhaite, a tous les deux, la plus
chaleureuse bienvenue.

[Traduction)

Il est tres rafraichissant de vous entendre tous les deux au
méme moment. Il est bon d’entendre I'opinion du secteur privé
pour ce qui concerne la pratique du droit.

Monsieur Tremblay, merci d’étre venu. Si vous le permettez, je
vais vous adresser ma premiére question.

Vous avez avancé un bon argument. Vous nous avez réchauftés
le cceur a tous lorsque vous avez dit que I'opinion qu’on préte au
public a propos du Sénat n’est pas nécessairement exacte, et que
nous ne devrions pas nous laisser bousculer pour ce qui est de
réformer ou d’apporter des modifications aux structures du Sénat
pour de mauvaises raisons.

Vous avez dit ensuite que, dans le contexte actuel de la
démocratie, la nomination des sénateurs est peut-étre anormale.
Mais cependant, j’ai cru comprendre que vous ouvriez la porte a
un mode de nomination qui serait acceptable lorsque vous avez
parlé par exemple de la maniére dont les juges de nos Cours
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appointed these days. You indicated the committee of the bar and
the committee of the judicial council, et cetera. Could you
elaborate on that? Professor Beaudoin, if you have a comment
as well, I would like to hear it. I have been grappling, as have
others, to find ways that we might address this democratic issue
— flaw, if you will — without having a huge comprehensive
constitutional conference.

Mr. Tremblay: When I read the transcript, and also the text,
I was a bit surprised by the importance given to the notion of the
senators being independent. If you have, for instance, a renewable
mandate it could affect the independence of the senators because
they will want to please the master of the day.

This notion of independence is between the judiciary and the
legislative branches, but we are talking about a subset of
independence within the legislative body, which is the
Parliament of Canada. Today, with party caucuses, you are
independent as much as you want, but you belong to, let us say, a
trend where that is part of yourself.

There is nothing wrong with somebody, who has a power to
appoint establishing conditions within which he will appoint. If,
in his or her wisdom he or she decides to create mechanisms which
allow for consultation, for instance, before appointing the Chief
Justice of Canada, it is considered a good idea to consult the
attorneys general of the provinces, there is nothing to prevent one
from doing it.

That is why I gave the example of the Canadian Judicial
Council. The Constitution states that the Governor General will
appoint judges along with the same wording that the Governor
General will appoint senators. There is a whole body of rules,
regulations and even laws, which give some guidelines to the
ultimate decider, the Governor General. I do not see why it
should not be feasible on a practical standpoint, pending the day
that everyone will agree to everything in Canada. There is nothing
wrong with improving the situation by putting together
mechanisms that get closer not to perfection, but to a more
perfect system.

As I said, if you do it long enough, 10 years or 15 years, then it
becomes a convention and part of the way of doing things. The
cabinet is not mentioned in the Constitution, and there is nothing
more important than the cabinet.

Mr. Beaudoin: Responsible government is not mentioned.

Senator Angus: Professor Beaudoin, did you want to add to
that response?

Mr. Beaudoin: Yes. The Constitution is composed of the
constitutional statutes, the decisions of the Supreme Court and
the conventions of the Constitution. If we go against the text of
the Constitution, we may go before the courts and the courts have
full power.

fédérales sont nommés actuellement. Vous avez parlé du comité
du Barreau et du comité du conseil de la magistrature, etc.
Pouvez-vous nous donner plus de détails a ce sujet? Monsieur
Beaudoin, si vous avez également commentaire a ce sujet,
jaimerais I'entendre. Comme d’autres, je me suis débattu pour
trouver remeéde a ce probléme de démocratie — cette lacune, si
vous voulez — sans qu’on ait pour autant une conférence
constitutionnelle qui n’en finirait plus.

M. Tremblay : Lorsque j’ai lu la transcription, ainsi que le
texte, j’ai été un peu surpris par I'importance qu’on accorde a
I'indépendance des sénateurs. Si, par exemple, vous aviez un
mandat renouvelable; I'indépendance des sénateurs pourrait s’en
trouver réduite parce qu’ils seraient de tenter de plaire au maitre
du jour.

Lorsqu’on parle d’indépendance, c’est de I'indépendance de la
magistrature par rapport aux organes législatifs, mais on parle ici
d’une autre forme d’indépendance au sein d’un corps législatif,
qui est le Parlement du Canada. Aujourd’hui, avec le caucus des
partis, on peut étre indépendant autant qu’on le veut, mais disons
que ’on appartient a un courant qui fait partie de vous-méme.

Il n’y a rien de mal a ce qu'une personne qui a le pouvoir de
faire des nominations établisse les conditions selon lesquelles il va
procéder a ces nominations. Si, dans sa sagesse, il ou elle décide de
créer des mécanismes qui autoriseront des consultations, par
exemple, avant la nomination du juge en chef du Canada, on
considére que c’est une bonne chose que de consulter les
procureurs généraux des provinces, rien ne 'empéche de faire ¢a.

Voila pourquoi j’ai cité I’exemple du Conseil canadien de la
magistrature. La Constitution dit que le gouverneur général
nommera les juges, et le libellé est a peu prés le méme pour la
nomination des sénateurs par le gouverneur général. Il y a tout un
ensemble de régles, de réglements et méme de lois qui servent de
lignes directrices au décideur ultime, soit le gouverneur général. Je
ne vois pas pourquoi cela ne pourrait pas se faire sur le plan
pratique, dans I’attente du jour ou tout le monde se sera mis
d’accord sur tout au Canada. Il n’y a rien de mal a améliorer la
situation en mettant en place des mécanismes qui nous
rapprochent non pas de la perfection, mais d’un systéme plus
parfait.

Comme je I’ai dit, si vous faites cela pendant assez longtemps,
disons 10 ou 15 ans, cela devient alors une convention, et entre
dans la fagon de faire les choses. Le cabinet n’est pas mentionné
dans la Constitution, mais il n’y a rien de plus important que le
Cabinet.

M. Beaudoin : On ne mentionne pas non plus le gouvernement
responsable.

Le sénateur Angus : Monsieur Beaudoin, vouliez-vous ajouter
un mot?

M. Beaudoin : Oui. La Constitution est composée de lois
constitutionnelles, des arréts de la Cour supréme est des
conventions de la Constitution. Si on va a I’encontre du texte
de la Constitution, il faut s’adresser aux tribunaux, et les
tribunaux sont alors tout puissants.
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Regarding the conventions of the Constitution, the court may
identify a convention but it cannot do more than that. In other
words, the remedy, if you go against a convention of the
Constitution, is Parliament. The matter has to be settled there.
However, if it is in the text of the Constitution or the decision of
the courts, then the court will rule.

We have conventions. The liability of the government is a
convention of the Constitution in the sense that if the government
is defeated on a budget, it is a convention of the Constitution and
we know what happens in a case such as that. However, if you go
against the text of the Constitution, then you may go before the
courts.

We have many conventions of the Constitution but the remedy
is different. If you go against a convention, the remedy is
Parliament. If you go against the Constitution, the remedy is the
court. This is our system.

The Prime Minister has very strong powers of appointment,
but we do not yet know what phase two of this process will be.
Suppose phase one is adopted; in my opinion, Bill S-4 is
constitutional. However, the second phase is much more
difficult than the first one because you need seven provinces
with 50 per cent of the population. I have attended many
constitutional conferences. It is very interesting, but the fact is
that sometimes we do not succeed.

To change an institution like the Senate is like changing the
division of powers. It is like many things of that sort.

Yes, the Senate would be more democratic if it were elected,
and the Prime Minister would be losing a lot of power because the
last word would be with the population and not with the Prime
Minister. Do not forget that point. I do not know what will
happen in October or December, but I will be reading the
outcome very closely.

Senator Angus: Among the witnesses who have shared their
interesting thoughts with us, several raised the concept of a
citizens” assembly. I do not know whether either of you saw
that. I am referring principally to Mr. Gibson from British
Columbia, where they actually implemented the concept of a
citizens’ assembly to study electoral reform in that province.
It piqued our curiosity because if one is looking for an
ultimately conventional vehicle, it is short of a 7-50 type of
amendment to the Constitution to provide for a more democratic
way of getting appointments made. What do you think about
that proposal?

Mr. Beaudoin: I am sure that they do not want to make a
convention. We have an appointed Senate and some people say
we should have a Senate that is elected; it is quite a change. It is
fantastic. It may be done with Ottawa and seven provinces
encompassing 50 per cent of the population. If you do not have it,
there would be no elected Senate.

En ce qui concerne les conventions de la Constitution, la cour
peut définir une convention mais rien de plus. Autrement dit, le
recours, si vous allez a l’encontre d’une convention de la
Constitution, c’est le Parlement. La question doit étre réglée a
son niveau. Cependant, sl s’agit d’une question qui figure dans le
texte de la Constitution ou dans la jurisprudence, ce sont alors les
tribunaux qui trancheront.

Nous avons des conventions. La responsabilité du
gouvernement est une convention de la Constitution au sens ou,